# Conformance Control for Enhanced Oil Recovery in Fractured Reservoirs

Bergit Brattekås



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

2014

Dissertation date: September 19th

# **Table of Contents**

Summary	i
Acknowledgements	v
List of scientific papers	vi
1. An introduction to fractured reservoirs	1
1.1. Fluid flow in fractured reservoirs	2
Key factors	2
Recovery mechanisms	4
1.2. Conventional recovery methods	5
Waterflooding	5
Gas flooding	7
2. Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) in fractured reservoirs	8
2.1. Conformance control	8
Conformance control by gel	9
Foams for conformance improvement during gas floods	9
2.2. Polymer gel	10
Cr(III)Acetate-HPAM gel	10
Gel placement in fractures	12
Gel resistance to washout during chase floods	14
Gel stability after placement in fractures	15
2.3. Carbon dioxide- $CO_2$	16
Miscible $CO_2$ flooding	17
CO2-foam	18
2.4. Integrated EOR- an opportunity	19
3. Experimental work and results	21
3.1. Polymer gel for conformance control	22
Experimental design and preparation	22
Gel resistance to washout	24
Capillary influence on gel stability	26
Gel placement and flow diversion at oil-wet conditions	30
3.2. CO <sub>2</sub> flooding	32

Experiments and preparation	32
Miscible $CO_2$ injections for EOR in fractured carbonates	
Miscible and immiscible CO2-foam for tertiary oil recovery	35
3.3. Integrated EOR	
3.4. Measurement of two-phase flow functions during waterfloods	
4. Conclusions	42
5. Future Perspectives	44
Polymer gels	44
Foams	
Integrated EOR	45
Nomenclature	46
Bibliography	47
Scientific Papers	57

## Summary

Fractures in a hydrocarbon reservoir often exhibit permeabilities several orders of magnitude higher than the rock matrix, and heavily influence fluid flow. Injected fluids and gases may channel through the fractures without contacting large volumes of matrix oil, which cause poor microscopic and macroscopic sweep efficiencies, and hence low oil recovery factors.

Secondary recovery methods, which include the injection of water or gas into the reservoir, may be successful in fractured reservoirs if 1) the wettability is such that it enables capillary spontaneous imbibition of water (during waterfloods), or 2) if matrix blocks are in capillary contact with each other, so that fluids and viscous pressure gradients can be transported across fractures (water and gas floods). During gas floods, gravity drainage is an important recovery mechanism, and efficient recovery of oil may be obtained at gravity stable conditions in matrix blocks of large continuous column heights. In severely fractured reservoirs, without continuity between matrix blocks, high adverse mobility ratios and large density contrast between injected gas and reservoir oil may lead to fluid channeling and poor macroscopic sweep efficiency. Fluid channeling due to fractures may also be severe during waterfloods in reservoirs with low viscous and capillary contributions to flow. Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) methods may be applied to improve the displacement of matrix oil, by e.g. reducing interfacial tension and capillary contrasts, and/or by increasing the viscosity of the displacing fluid. The main challenge during EOR operations in fractured reservoirs is to prevent fracture channeling, so that injected fluids and gases can contact and displace the oil in the matrix. Conformance control methods reduce the impact of fractures on fluid flow and enable fluids to enter and flood the matrix. Two methods were experimentally investigated in this thesis: 1) polymer gel injection to reduce fracture permeability or transmissibility, thus fluids are enabled to enter the matrix at increased viscous pressure gradients during chase floods (Paper 1-2 and Paper 5), and 2) foam injection to reduce gas mobility. Foam injection improve microscopic and macroscopic sweep during gas floods, by increasing the gas viscosity and the resistance to flow in fractures (Paper 3-5).

Conformance control by polymer gel injection was experimentally assessed through laboratory core floods. In **Paper 1**, two gel injection methods and their implications on gel strength during chase floods were investigated: 1) immature gel (gelant) injection, with following *in-situ* gelation, and 2) injection of fully formed, mature gel. Gel propagation through fractured systems is fundamentally different for the two. Immature gel flows in porous rock as well as fractures, hence a resilient gel form in the fracture and surrounding matrix after injection and gelation. Mature gel is inhibited from entering porous rock due to its structure and flows through fractures only: the gel may, however, lose water and

consequently become more concentrated during injection, which improves its strength. The rupture pressure, where the gel in a fracture breaks and allows fluid transport through it, was measured and found to be comparable for both gel placement methods. After breaking, gel was observed to significantly reduce fracture permeability during chase waterfloods, with factors of 5000 (mature gel) and 600 (immature gel) compared to the initial fracture permeability. Permeability reduction provided by mature gel was stable during injection of over 100 fracture volumes (FV) of water through the fracture.

Polymer gel behaviour is often studied using cores saturated by water only, including the work in **Paper 1**. In **Paper 2-6**, experiments were performed using core plugs saturated by two phases: water and oil. Saturation by more than one phase yield saturation functions that influence fluid flow in the matrix, and in the case of immiscible fluids, capillary forces may impact the fluid dynamics. In **Paper 2**, capillary forces in strongly water-wet matrices attracted water from mature polymer gel by spontaneous imbibition. Spontaneous imbibition was observed in three different outcrop core materials, and the oil recovery rate as a function of time was measured when all core surfaces were exposed to gel; using all faces open (AFO) boundary conditions, and when the core end faces only were open to flow, applying two ends open- free spontaneous imbibition (TEOFSI) boundary conditions, where one end face was in contact with gel and one with oil. Severe shrinkage of the gel volume was observed due to spontaneous imbibition of gel solvent, and was measured to be up to 99%. Shrinkage at this level can be detrimental for the gels ability to efficiently block fractures. Capillary spontaneous imbibition and subsequent gel shrinkage may help explain why gel treatments have lost efficiency with time when applied in water-wet reservoirs.

**Paper 3** investigated miscible CO<sub>2</sub> EOR in fractured and un-fractured systems. Laboratory core floods were performed at reservoir conditions, and  $CO_2$  was injected in the secondary or tertiary recovery mode. Oil composition significantly influenced the gas flood efficiency during the experiments, and secondary CO<sub>2</sub> floods recovered 96%OOIP when injected into core plugs saturated with simple mineral oil (n-Decane), within 2 to 4 pore volumes (PV)  $CO_2$ injected (whole and fractured core plugs, respectively). Using North Sea crude oil as the oil phase, tail production was significant and several pore volumes were required to reach the residual oil saturation in both whole and fractured core plugs. The need for conformance control and increased viscous pressure gradients during gas floods was obvious, and CO<sub>2</sub>foam applications were investigated through core floods in Paper 4. Foam was applied to fractured core plugs in tertiary mode, at both miscible and immiscible experimental conditions. One objective was to enhance oil recovery at oil-wet conditions. Waterfloods were inefficient in recovering oil from fractured, oil-wet core plugs (0-22%OOIP) and the potential for CO<sub>2</sub> EOR was high. Miscible foam injection was the most efficient application, and recovered an additional 50-70%OOIP within 2PV foam injected, compared to 35%OOIP in 5PV for pure, miscible CO<sub>2</sub>. Immiscible CO<sub>2</sub> foam injection was not efficient, and required over 30PV injected to reach the end point (15-20%OOIP). In-situ imaging by CT was used to investigate EOR by immiscible foam in fractured core plugs, and we found that gas did not enter the matrix at oil-wet conditions, but only flowed in fractures. Oil was displaced by surfactant solution, which entered the matrix at an increased pressure gradient provided by the foam.

**Paper 5** combined polymer gel and CO<sub>2</sub>-foam floods for integrated enhanced oil recovery (IEOR) in fractured, oil-wet core plugs. The first step in the integrated approach was conformance control by polymer gel. Chase flooding followed, and CO<sub>2</sub>-foam floods were compared to chase floods by water and surfactant. CO<sub>2</sub>-foam was observed to give a more stable displacement front during chase flooding and was less prone to viscous fingering. All experimental steps were monitored by *in-situ* imaging.

Two-phase flow functions were important during gel placements and chase floods in twophase saturated media. Accurate methods to measure and analyze capillary pressure and relative permeability are always in demand. **Paper 6** presents an *in-situ* approach for measuring saturation and capillary pressure during waterfloods. Relative permeability was calculated from the experimental data using an explicit method.

# Acknowledgements

The work in this thesis was performed as part of a research project for enhanced oil recovery in heterogeneous carbonates, funded by The Research Council of Norway.

I also wish to thank ...

...my main supervisor, Arne Graue, for his guidance, ability to motivate, and for focusing on opportunities in research, instead of restrictions. I would also like to thank him for encouraging numerous travels abroad during my years of study.

...Randy Seright at PRRC, New Mexico Tech for always keeping the door open, for interesting and helpful discussions, and for making my stays in Socorro memorable. Thank you also to Kate at PRRC for valuable assistance during long laboratory hours, and great company after.

...Jenn-Tai Liang at TORP, University of Kansas for welcoming me into his laboratories, and Stephen Johnson, Karen Peltier and Scott Ramskill for help during experiments and analysis.

...Jim Johnson and James Howard at the ConocoPhillips Research Center in Bartlesville, OK for welcoming me back time after time. Special thanks to Jim Stevens (now retired) for his significant contributions in the MRI-lab.

...the Statoil Research Center at Rotvoll, Norway, for laboratory facilities, and Lars Rennan, Ann-Lisbeth Bye and Karen Melhuus for guidance and assistance in the CT-lab.

...all the guys at the mechanical workshop at the Department of Physics and Technology. Your hard work and excellent craftsmanship meant a lot to the experimental work in this thesis.

...numerous colleagues and mentors in the reservoir physics group, current and past. Working, discussing, celebrating, laughing and travelling with you have been an absolute pleasure!

...my friends, old and new, twin allies: thank you for not (only) talking about physics.

...our greatest achievements, two-year-olds Øyvor and Aune, for motivation and interruption: this thesis is completed because of (and despite of) you. Their four grandparents deserve special thanks for their efforts in taking care of them (and all of us).

...finally, my life and this work would not have been complete without Åsmund. Thank you for letting me rant about reservoir physics over dinner, and for enthusiastically joining in the conversation. Thank you for taking such good care of our children, and for being you.

Bergit Bratteke

# List of scientific papers

- Brattekås, B., Pedersen, S.G., Nistov, H.T., Haugen, Å., Graue, A., Liang, J. and Seright, R.S.: "The Effect of Cr(III) Acetate-HPAM Gel Maturity on Washout from Open Fractures", SPE 169064, proceedings at the 2014 SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium held in Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA, 12 – 16 April 2014.
- Brattekås, B., Haugen, Å., Graue, A. and Seright, R.S.: "Gel Dehydration by Spontaneous Imbibition of Brine from Aged Polymer Gel", SPE 153118, <u>SPE Journal</u>, vol. 19, issue 01, pp. 122 – 134, February 2014
- **3.** Steinsbø, M., **Brattekås**, **B**., Ersland, G., Fernø, M. and Graue, A.: *«Supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> injection for enhanced oil recovery in fractured chalk»*. Presented at the International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts held in Avignon, France, 7-12 September 2014.
- 4. Haugen, Å., Mani, N., Svenningsen, S., Brattekås, B., Graue, A., Ersland, G. and Fernø, M.: "Miscible and Immiscible Foam Injection for Mobility Control and EOR in Fractured Oil-Wet Carbonate Rocks", <u>Transport in Porous Media (TiPM)</u>, published online May 14<sup>th</sup>, 2014.
- Brattekås, B., Haugen, Å., Ersland, G., Eide, Ø., Graue, A. and Fernø, M.A.: "Fracture Mobility Control by Polymer Gel- Integrated EOR in fractured, Oil-Wet Carbonate Rocks", SPE 164906, proceedings at the EAGE Annual Conference & Exhibition incorporating SPE Europec held in London, United Kingdom, 10–13 June 2013.
- 6. Brattekås, B., Brautaset, A., Haugen, Å. and Graue, A.: "Direct calculation of dynamic relative permeabilities from in-situ phase pressures and fluid saturations", SCA 2013-097, Peer-reviewed conference proceedings, International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts held in Napa Valley, California, USA, 16 19 September 2013.

# 1. An introduction to fractured reservoirs

More than 20% of the world hydrocarbon reserves are contained in fractured reservoirs, often consisting of carbonate rock material (Saidi 1987, Firoozabadi 2000). Fractures, when present in a reservoir, significantly influence fluid flow and lead to a lower and slower recovery of hydrocarbons compared to non-fractured reservoirs. Naturally occurring fractures are often caused by brittle failure due to geological processes (folding, faulting, release of overburden pressure), and can exist in any type of rock (Miller 2010). Drilling and fluid injection in hydrocarbon reservoirs induce variations in temperature and/or pressure that may also cause intentional or unintentional fracturing of the reservoir rock.

It can be useful to categorize fractured reservoirs, to predict recovery and conformance challenges and to correctly model the reservoirs. A typology based on the relationship between porosity and permeability is given in **Table 1**, based on the characterizations of Nelson (2001) and Allen and Sun (2003). The recovery methods assessed in this thesis concentrate on Type 2 and Type 3 reservoirs, where the main hydrocarbon storage is in the matrix.

Matrix			
	Porosity (storage)	Permeability (productivity)	Influence of fractures
Type 1	little to none	little to none	The interconnected fracture network constitutes the hydrocarbon storage and controls the fluid flow.
Туре 2	low	low	Fractures control the fluid flow. Fracture intensity and distribution dictates production. Some hydrocarbons are stored in the matrix.
Туре З	high	low	Matrix provides storage capacity, while the fractures augment permeability and transports hydrocarbons to producing wells.
Type 4	high	high	The effects of the fracture network are less significant on fluid flow. Fractures contribute to neither permeability nor porosity, but add significant reservoir heterogeneity.

#### Table 1: Naturally fractured reservoirs typology.

There are fundamental differences between fluid flow performance in fractured and conventional, non-fractured, reservoirs. Van Golf-Racht (1996) described several, some of which are summarized below:

The pressure drop around a producing well in a fractured reservoir is low. Even for high well injection rates, significant pressure drops are not experienced due to the high permeability of the fractures. Thus, the resulting low pressure gradient is sufficient for transportation of oil through fractures, but is too low to promote an exchange of fluids between the matrix and fracture network. The production of oil from matrix blocks is controlled by other production mechanisms that are specific for fractured reservoirs, e.g. spontaneous imbibition and gravity drainage.

- Fluid transition zones are absent. Distinct, horizontal interfaces separate the wateroil and oil-gas contacts at both static and dynamic conditions, rather than large transition zones as seen in non-fractured reservoirs.
- The producing gas-oil ratio is substantially lower in fractured reservoirs. Good vertical communication due to high permeable fractures cause liberated gas to segregate towards the top of the reservoir.
- The rate of pressure decline per unit oil produced is normally low. Production mechanisms in fractured reservoirs assure a great supply of fluids from matrix toward fractures (gravity and imbibition combined with fluid expansion, segregation, convection etc.). Comparable decline can be achieved in conventional reservoirs by re-injecting up to 80% of the produced gas.

### 1.1. Fluid flow in fractured reservoirs

Fluid flow is governed by gravitational, viscous and capillary forces. In fractured reservoirs, viscous forces are generally limited, and oil recovery is dominated by gravity and/or capillary forces, depending on matrix wettability (Boerrigter *et al.* 2007). The difference in capillary pressure between the matrix and fracture, in particular, has a significant effect on oil recovery (Firoozabadi 2000). Important production mechanisms that control oil recovery from matrix blocks in fractured reservoirs rely largely on capillary pressure, and include spontaneous imbibition and gravity drainage. Some factors that influence recovery mechanisms and performance are described below.

### **Key factors**

#### Wettability

Wettability controls the location, distribution and flow of fluids in a porous matrix and influence the shape of the relative permeability and capillary pressure curves (Anderson 1987a, 1987b, 1987d). The wettability of a solid surface, contacted by two or more immiscible fluids, is defined by how the fluids spread on, or adhere to, the surface (Craig 1971). The wettability of a simple mineral surface is illustrated in **Figure 1**. Fluid flow in fractured reservoirs is heavily influenced by wettability. At water-wet conditions, a positive capillary pressure exists and water spread on pore surfaces in the presence of oil. The positive capillary pressure drives water invasion into matrix blocks by spontaneous imbibition. At oil-wet conditions, the capillary pressure is negative and oil is the spreading

fluid. Water can therefore not enter an oil-wet matrix block without a viscous pressure gradient (Fernø *et al.* 2008, Haugen *et al.* 2010b).

Rock that has not been contacted by oil is expected to be strongly water-wet, e.g. outcrop rock, small water saturated pores and zones in a reservoir which have not been invaded by oil. Deposition of wettability-altering components from crude oil on a mineral surface can change its wetting preference (Buckley *et al.* 1998). The pattern of deposition and wettability alteration in the pore space depends on the distribution of the initial water saturation (Salathiel 1973). Most reservoirs are accepted to have some form of mixed wettability, where the wettability distribution often depends on pore size. Salathiel's (1973) mixed wettability refers to systems where oil-wet surfaces are continuous through the larger pores, where crude oil is envisioned to migrate through a reservoir. The small pores, where the capillary threshold pressure is too high for crude oil to enter during migration, remain water-wet and water saturated.



Figure 1: Wettability of a simple mineral surface from water-wet (left), through neutral-wet (middle) to oil-wet (right). Wettability can be altered from water-wet towards oil-wet by ageing in crude oil. Wettability reversal by surfactant (back towards water-wet) for EOR is an option to increase oil recovery by spontaneous imbibition.

#### Capillary continuity

Capillary continuity was originally investigated in conjunction with gravity drainage and believed to be prevailing in the vertical direction (Saidi *et al.* 1979, Horie *et al.* 1990, Labastie 1990, Stones *et al.* 1992), but may occur in any direction (Graue *et al.* 2000a, Graue *et al.* 2000b, Graue *et al.* 2001a, Graue *et al.* 2001b, Aspenes *et al.* 2002, Rangel-German *et al.* 2006, Aspenes *et al.* 2007). Capillary continuity between matrix blocks is vital to maintain a producing pressure gradient across several partly or completely isolated matrix blocks in a fractured reservoir, and improves oil recovery from gravity drainage and viscous displacement (Horie and Firoozabadi 1988, Labastie 1990, Stones *et al.* 1992).

Graue *et al.* (2000a, 2000b, 2001a, 2001b) and Aspenes *et al.* (2002, 2007) used MRI (Magnetic Resonance Imaging) to investigate fluid transport across vertical fractures during

waterfloods. In strongly water-wet systems, block-by-block displacement of oil was observed: vertical fractures between matrix blocks filled hydraulically by the wetting phase, and were filled completely before water entered the next matrix block. At less water-wet conditions, water droplets formed on the fracture surface and grew into liquid *wetting phase bridges* that transported fluids across fractures up to 2.3 mm aperture, and into the next matrix block. A differential pressure was also transmitted across the open fractures through the liquid bridges, which reduced the impact of fractures on waterflooding and provided an additional viscous component to the flood. The viscous component compensated for the loss in oil recovery by capillary imbibition. No wetting phase bridges were observed in strongly water-wet fractures due to the strong water preference of the system, causing water to spread on the fracture surface rather than forming droplets. The proposed mechanism for fracture crossing is sketched in **Figure 2**.



Figure 2: Proposed mechanism for fracture crossing, modified from Aspenes *et al.* (2007). For strongly water-wet systems (left), films form on the vertical fracture surface at water breakthrough, and the water migrates to the bottom of the fracture, displacing oil upwards. Water throughput to the second matrix block occurs when the fracture is completely filled by water in a hydraulic process. For less wetted systems (right), water drops form at the fracture surface at relatively low water saturations. As the water drops group and grow, they gradually form bridges that allow water to cross over into the next matrix block.

#### **Recovery mechanisms**

#### Gravity drainage

Oil recovery by gas-oil gravity drainage was first investigated in the 1940s (Cardwell and Parsons 1949) and can contribute to significant recoveries in fractured reservoirs with high vertical permeability (Firoozabadi 2000). Oil displacement by gravity drainage occur when gravity forces dominate over viscous and capillary forces (Hagoort 1980), and is therefore

determined by the density difference between the gas in the fracture network and the matrix oil, and the effective matrix block height. In short matrix blocks, a capillary threshold pressure in the matrix will prevent entry of gas into the matrix by gravity forces. Gravity drainage is thus generally poor in highly fractured media without large continuous column heights, because of the large contrasts between matrix and fracture capillary pressure. The process can be significantly improved by establishing capillary contact between consecutive matrix blocks, thereby increasing the effective height of the matrix, or by reducing interfacial tension, thereby lowering the capillary contrast between the matrix and the fracture network. The latter can be achieved by gas injections above MMP (*minimum miscibility pressure*).

#### Spontaneous imbibition

Spontaneous imbibition is believed to be the governing mechanism for oil recovery in fractured reservoirs (Morrow and Mason 2001, Mason and Morrow 2013) and is particularly pronounced due to the lack of transition zones: the water-oil level has an advancing behaviour in the fracture system, and spontaneous imbibition into matrix blocks may exhibit both countercurrent (water surrounds entire matrix block) and co-current (matrix block partially covered in water) behaviour (Firoozabadi 2000). Significant oil recoveries may be achieved during waterflooding at water-wet conditions due to spontaneous imbibition, where displaced oil is produced into fractures or through consecutive matrix blocks in capillary contact with each other. The recovery of oil by spontaneous imbibition is governed by several factors, above all capillary pressure and wettability (Zhou *et al.* 2000). Initial water saturation (Viksund *et al.* 1998), interfacial tension between the fluid phases (Ma *et al.* 1997, Karimaie and Torseter 2007), matrix block size and surface area open to flow (Mattax and Kyte 1962) are also important factors.

### 1.2. Conventional recovery methods

Primary oil recovery by natural pressure depletion traditionally yield low oil recovery factors, below 15% of the oil originally in place (OOIP), although pressure in some reservoirs can be maintained for an extended period due to an expanding aquifer or gas cap. To improve oil recovery, secondary recovery efforts are often utilized, where fluids (water or gas) are injected to maintain reservoir pressure and displace hydrocarbons towards producing wells.

### Waterflooding

Waterflooding is a common secondary oil recovery method, especially in regions where the injection fluid (water) is readily available, and waterflooding therefore is cost-effective. In non-fractured, porous rock, waterflood efficiency is largely determined by wettability (Anderson 1987b), which controls the post-waterflood residual oil saturation (Morrow

1990). Fractional flow calculations show that fluid displacement is viscously driven (Rapoport and Leas 1953). In fractured reservoirs, highly conductive fractures separate the matrix blocks and limit the influence of viscous forces (Bourbiaux 2009), hence the success of a waterflood is controlled by capillary forces and gravity (Anderson 1987b). Oil recovery by waterflooding in fractured reservoirs depends strongly on spontaneous capillary imbibition and is thus dependent on wettability.

Waterflood oil recovery from fractured reservoirs has in some cases been unexpectedly high, as observed in the Ekofisk field on the Norwegian continental shelf (NCS): waterflooding was initially initiated for pressure support, due to significant seabed subsidence after years of production by pressure depletion (Hermansen *et al.* 1997, 2000). Significant increased oil recovery followed due to favorable wettability (spontaneous imbibition) and weakening of the chalk reservoir rock (compaction drive) combined. **Figure 3** shows the field oil rate response to waterflooding.



Figure 3: Response in oil production rate from waterflooding in the Ekofisk field, modified from Hermansen *et al.* (2000).

At oil-wet or neutral wetting conditions, the capillary contribution to flow is low, and little to no oil is produced by spontaneous imbibition. The contribution from viscous displacement mechanisms is also low due to fractures, hence poor volumetric sweep and low oil recovery is frequently observed during waterflooding, and the majority of water flows through fractures only. Large volumes of oil are left behind, trapped in matrix blocks surrounded by fractures, and the potential for enhanced oil recovery (EOR) is high. Conformance control decrease the influence of fractures on flow, and enable chase fluids to enter the matrix blocks at increased viscous pressure gradients. Reduction of fracture permeability by e.g. polymer gel can improve chase waterflood efficiency in fractured reservoirs.

### Gas flooding

Gas flooding is an alternative secondary oil recovery method, where produced hydrocarbon gas is re-injected for pressure support, either into the same reservoir from which it was produced, or neighboring reservoirs. Gas flooding can also be implemented as an EOR method for miscibly displacing matrix oil, using  $CO_2$ , hydrocarbon-miscible gas e.g.  $C_2$ ,  $C_3$ ,  $C_4$ , flue gas and nitrogen, further discussed in **Chapter 2** and **Chapter 3**.

Gas is either immiscible or miscible with the reservoir oil during displacement. Immiscible gas floods in fractured media are not efficient, due to segregation of liberated gas to the top of the fracture system. Miscible gas displacements significantly decrease the interfacial tension between oil and gas and ultimately reduce capillary contrast between the matrix and fracture to zero. Injected fluids are therefore able to flood the matrix in addition to the fracture network, thus improving local displacement efficiency and oil recovery by gravity drainage and viscous flooding (Orr and Pande 1989, Firoozabadi 2000). The high local displacement efficiency may, however, be offset by low macroscopic sweep efficiency due to fluid channeling (Bank et al. 2007). Permeability heterogeneity, therein fractures, contribute to severe fluid channeling during miscible gas floods, and is aggravated by high adverse mobility ratios and large density contrast between the injected gas and reservoir oil (Stalkup 1984). Crossflow between matrix and fractures has been verified during miscible displacements (Firoozabadi 1994, Tan and Firoozabadi 1995, Dindoruk and Firoozabadi 1996), and causes fluid mixing and significant amounts of two-phase flow. The local displacement efficiency is reduced due to crossflow. Macroscopic sweep efficiency and overall recovery of oil are, however, improved, due to a reduction in fluid mobility, which reduce channeling caused by permeability heterogeneity and gravity override (Orr and Pande 1989, Pande 1992). The mobility during gas floods may also be improved by mixing a surfactant into the gas phase, to generate foam. Foam injections add a viscous component to the gas flood and reduce the impact of fractures on fluid flow.

# 2. Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) in fractured reservoirs

In many fractured reservoirs, secondary recovery efforts do not yield sufficient increased oil recovery, and remaining oil volumes can be considerable. *Enhanced oil recovery (EOR)* methods can be implemented to mobilize the oil and displace it towards production wells. EOR refer to injection of fluids or chemicals that are not naturally present in the reservoir (e.g. surfactants, polymers, acids, clean gases) to achieve a higher or faster oil recovery. Oil recovery may also be improved by drilling of additional (e.g. horizontal) wells to improve the flow pattern in the reservoir, often termed Improved Oil Recovery (IOR).

### 2.1. Conformance control

The main challenge in EOR operations is enabling the injected fluids to contact the hydrocarbons stored in the matrix. In fractured reservoirs with limited spontaneous imbibition, fracture/matrix capillary contrasts cause injected fluids to flow in the high permeable fracture network during EOR operations, while oil remain trapped in the matrix. Fracture channeling is defined as a *conformance problem*, alongside viscous fingering due to poor mobility control, matrix channeling in high permeable layers, water coning and well problems (Flores *et al.* 2008, Sydansk and Romero-Zerôn 2011). Conformance problems cause non-uniform displacement fronts, which results in early breakthrough of injected fluids and low production oil cuts. Channeling or fingering of fluids brought about many disappointing EOR field tests in the 1970s and 1980s, because the injected EOR fluids and gases were inhibited from contacting significant portions of the reservoir (Sydansk and Romero-Zerôn 2011).

Improved conformance in a fractured reservoir can be achieved by 1) reducing fracture permeability (Graue *et al.* 2002), and/or 2) establishing a viscous pressure component in the matrix, e.g. during chase floods after fracture permeability reduction, or by increasing the apparent viscosity of the injected drive fluid. According to Sydansk and Romero-Zerôn (2011), successful conformance control may contribute to:

- Improved sweep efficiency.
- Increased and incremental oil recovery.
- Accelerated oil recovery rates.
- Reduced oil recovery expenses, because recycling of drive fluids is reduced, which also reduce the associated lifting, handling, treatment, environmental-related, and disposal costs.
- Reduced environmental liabilities and increased environmental benefits (e.g. produce less saline, heavy-metal-containing, and/or H<sub>2</sub>S-containing water).

### Conformance control by gel

Reduction of flow in fractures or high permeability zones by placement of gels have been reported (Seright and Martin 1991, Seright and Liang 1994, Seright 1995, 1997, Tweidt *et al.* 1997, Seright *et al.* 1998, Portwood 1999, Sydansk and Southwell 2000, Seright *et al.* 2001, Portwood 2005, Rousseau *et al.* 2005, Alhajeri *et al.* 2006, Willhite and Pancake 2008, Spildo *et al.* 2009, Stavland *et al.* 2011). Gels are most often used for fracture blocking purposes. Fracture permeability reduction provided by the gel enable increased differential pressure gradients across matrix blocks during subsequent floods. Injected chase fluids or gases can thus be diverted to areas that have not previously been swept. **Figure 4** illustrates fracture channeling during oil recovery: a known conformance problem which has been successfully treated through *polymer gel* applications.





### Foams for conformance improvement during gas floods

Mixing of surfactant and gas to generate *foam* reduce the mobility of the gas phase by making it discontinuous: during mixing, the gas is dispersed into bubbles and separated by thin liquid films (*lamellae*). Foams have both 1) a viscous-enhancement component, and 2) a permeability-reducing component that can be exploited for conformance improvement (Sydansk and Romero-Zerôn 2011). Foam injection for conformance control have been studied both experimentally and numerically (see e.g. (Hirasaki and Lawson 1985, Falls *et al.* 1988, Kovscek *et al.* 1995, Rossen 1995, Geiger-Boschung *et al.* 2009)), and shown to be applicable in heterogeneous (Bertin *et al.* 1999b) as well as fractured (Haugen *et al.* 2012) reservoirs. In heterogeneous reservoirs, foam will generate in high permeable zones first and

divert flow into zones of lower permeability. After entry into the low permeable zone, the foam front moves with equal velocities in zones of both high and low permeability when there is capillary communication and crossflow between these (Bertin *et al.* 1999a). Foam also greatly enhances the sweep in fractures (Kovscek *et al.* 1995, Yan *et al.* 2006, Pancharoen *et al.* 2012) and reduce the effect of longitudinal fractures on flow (Panahi 2004). Application of foams for enhanced oil recovery (EOR) during gas floods is a promising technique at both immiscible and miscible conditions and using a variety of gases.

### 2.2. Polymer gel

In naturally fractured reservoirs, successful conformance control is required in the farwellbore region as well as in the near-well area. Gel technology represents an opportunity to treat all sections of a reservoir. Several thousand different gel systems exist, and an overview of some gels, used for the purpose of oilfield conformance control, is given in **Table 2**. Polymer gels have emerged to become the most widely applied conformanceimprovement gel technology (Sydansk and Romero-Zerôn 2011), and are high flowing, yet rigid, blocking agents that may be placed deep in the reservoir. The experimental work using polymer gel in this thesis focus on *Chromium (III)-Carboxylate/Acrylamide-Polymer (CC/AP) Gels,* specifically Cr(III)Acetate-HPAM gel. This gel system, first investigated by Robert Sydansk (Sydansk and Argabright 1987, Sydansk 1988, 1988, 1990), has been applied worldwide as a conformance-improvement treatment, and is a field scale proven technique. Its robust gel chemistry has been widely studied and is well documented.

### Cr(III)Acetate-HPAM gel

Cr(III)Acetate-HPAM polymer gel is a semi-solid material, formed through a reaction between a polymer solution and cross-linker agent, as shown in **Figure 5**. Water is first mixed with a polymer to form a polymer solution (**Figure 5**, left). The polymer concentrations used for oilfield conformance improvement vary from 1500-100000 ppm but is typically in the range of 3000-12000 ppm. When a cross-linker agent is added to the polymer solution (**Figure 5**, middle), a *gelant* is formed. Gelant has low viscosity and small particles, which enable it to flow through rock matrix as well as fractures (Seright *et al.* 2003). Subjecting gelant to an elevated temperature over time changes the solution properties and a rigid gel is formed (**Figure 5**, right). The process where gelant transforms to gel is called "cross-linking" or "gelation".

Table 2: Gel technologies for use in oilfield conformance control.			
Gel technologies used for oilfield conformance control Inorganic gels Silicate based Aluminum based Hydroxides of selected divalent and trivalent cations			
Biopolymers Synthetic polymers*	Xanthan Acrylamide-based polymers*	Organic cross-linking agents Aldehydes -Phenol-formaldehyde and derivatives Polyethyleneimine <u>Inorganic (metal) cross-linkers</u> Al(III) Zr(IV) Cr based -Cr(III) w. inorganic anions -Cr(VI) redox -Cr(III) w. organic carboxylate complex ions*	
Monomers Lignosulfonate gels	Acrylamide monomer Acrylate monomer Phenolics		
Preformed particle gels (PPG)	Swelling organic-polymer "macroparticle" gels		
Microgels			
Microgels with narrow particle	-size distribution		
CDGs	Aluminum citrate cross linked		
	Chromic-triacetate cross linke	d	
Delayed "popping"/swelling microgels (Bright Water™)			
Mixed silicate and acr	ylamide-polymer gels		

\*The polymer gel highlighted in green letters is the most commonly used gel system for oilfield conformance treatments, and was also used in the experimental section of this thesis.

The rigidity of the gel can be controlled by varying the chemical concentrations, and can range from highly flowing to rubbery (Sydansk 1988). The concentrations of polymer and cross-linker are usually low and the solvent (commonly water, although oil-based gels also exist) is the main ingredient in the polymer gel. Most polymer gels have an initial water content of 95 to 99.7% (Sydansk and Southwell 2000).



Figure 5: A polymer solution (left) forms a gelant when a cross-linker agent is added (middle). When the gelant is subjected to a higher temperature over time, a rigid gel is formed (right).

### Gel placement in fractures

Polymer gel can be placed in fractures as immature gel (gelant) or as pre-formed, mature gel. Immature gel may flow through porous rock as well as fractures during placement, and relatively low pressure gradients are required for extrusion (Seright *et al.* 2003). Immature gel is used in both high permeability layers and fracture blocking applications. The cross-linking process occur *in-situ* at reservoir conditions. Immature gel applications may experience a series of drawbacks (Bai *et al.* 2008), including:

Lack of gelation time control. Contact with reservoir fluids or rock may alter the composition of the gelant and interfere with gelation. Delayed or incomplete cross-linking due to dilution by formation water, chromium retention by precipitation/adsorption, polymer retention and pH changes have been observed (Seright 1992, Seright and Martin 1992, 1993, Stavland and Nilsson 1995, Zou *et al.* 2000, Ganguly *et al.* 2002, Jin *et al.* 2003, Chen *et al.* 2010).

Gelant intrusion into zones not previously flooded by water. The gelant viscosity increase during gelation, which can enable the gelant to enter into zones in the reservoir that have not been waterflooded, e.g. potentially productive zones of high oil saturation. If gel forms in these zones, they may be severely damaged. It has been suggested that capillary forces in oil-wet formations will prevent gelant invasion into zones of high oil saturation, leaving oil bearing zones unharmed during gelant injection, but this was contradicted by Liang *et al.* (1993): they found that gelant may penetrate into all open zones during placement in production wells, including zones of high oil saturation.

Mature gel is inhibited from passing through pore throats due to its long chained structure, and cannot flow through porous rock. The chemical treatment is therefore limited to open fractures during injection (Seright 2001a), and productive oil zones will not be harmed. The fracture volume typically constitutes ~1% of the total reservoir pore volume, and selective chemical treatment of fractures limits the need for chemicals. Mature gel has little sensitivity to physiochemical conditions in reservoirs (Zhang and Bai 2011), and is less prone to gravity segregation in fractures compared to gelant (Seright 1995). The drawbacks of mature gel injection are linked to its behaviour during injection:

- High pressure gradients are required for gel injection. The effective viscosity of formed gel in fractures is typically a factor 10<sup>3</sup> to 10<sup>6</sup> higher than for gelant, and mature gel injection thus require higher injection pressures. Mature gel enters, and extrudes through, a fracture at an elevated pressure gradient, controlled by the fracture aperture. The pressure gradient is insensitive to the flow rate and progressive plugging does not occur during gel extrusion through fractures, i.e. the pressure does not increase (Seright 2001b, 2003a).
- The gel treatment is limited to open fractures. Gels do not enter porous media or narrow fractures (below 0.052 mm aperture) after they have matured (Seright 2004), which may limit the gel treatment to near wellbore regions or fractured wells.

In most field applications, gelant is mixed at a surface facility and immediately injected through the wellbore. Treatment size and injection time varies, but will in most cases surpass the inherent short gelation time of the Cr(III)-HPAM gel system, of approximately 5 hours at  $41^{\circ}$ C. The most successful gel treatments of naturally fractured reservoirs required injection of large volumes of gel, and injection times far exceeding the gelation time (Sydansk and Moore 1992, Borling 1994, Hild and Wackowski 1999a). Thus, mature gel extrude through fractures during most of the placement process. To achieve in-depth gel treatments during mature gel injection, a continuous fracture system is required, through which gel can extrude. A second option to achieve far wellbore treatments by gel is to prolong the gelation time, thus extending the distance an immature gel is able to propagate prior to gelation. Cordova *et al.* (2008) successfully extended the gelation time of the Cr(III)-

HPAM gel system, by using Polyelectrolyte complex nanoparticles to entrap and control the release of Cr(III).

#### Gel resistance to washout during chase floods

After polymer gel placement in fractured systems, chase fluids are injected to displace oil from matrix blocks. The behaviour of the gel during chase floods largely determines the success of the conformance treatment. Polymer gel resistance to washout from fractures may be described by a *rupture pressure*, which is the highest pressure a gel in a fracture can resist before fluid transport through the gel occurs. Rupture pressures have been measured experimentally after placement of both immature (Ganguly *et al.* 2002, Wilton and Asghari 2007) and mature gel (Seright 2003b) in fractured systems.

Ganguly *et al.* (2002) injected gelant through fractured cores and slabs, and allowed the cross-linking process to occur *in-situ*. Gelant was in some experiments injected into both the core matrix and the fracture, where gelant intrusion to the matrix was controlled by adjusting the injected volume. Gel resistance to washout was tested during chase waterfloods, by measuring the rupture pressure, and was observed to be higher when gel had formed in the fracture and adjacent matrix. When gelant was placed in the fracture alone, without saturating the adjacent matrix, gel did not form, presumably due to diffusion of chromium through the porous rock. Ganguly *et al.* argued that gelant, when injected through both the fracture and surrounding rock matrix, formed a zone of homogeneous concentrated gel during cross-linking. This created a gripping effect between gel in the fracture and gel in the matrix that increased its overall pressure resistance. Wilton and Asghari (2007) achieved *in-situ* cross-linking without gelant leakoff to the matrix by pre-flushing the core with chromium solution, or by placing gelant with an increased amount of chromium in the fracture (chromium overload).

Seright *et al.* (1998, 2003) and Seright (1995, 1999, 2003a) showed that mature gel dehydrated during propagation through a fracture. The dehydration process was termed *leakoff*, and occurred due to the pressure difference between the fracture and matrix during gel injection. During gel propagation with leakoff, solvent left the gel and progressed through the core matrix, leaving a gel of higher concentration and rigidity in the fracture. The injected, mature gel flowed through the dehydrated, concentrated gel in designated flow channels (*wormholes*). As leakoff progressed, wormhole size diminished and the polymer concentration in the dehydrated gel layer increased. This concentration was a direct measure of the gel ability to divert chase water, and the pressure resistance of the gel increased with increasing polymer concentrations in the dehydrated gel layer. The non-dehydrated gel contained in the wormholes could be readily mobilized, and was the weakest link during subsequent floods. Seright (2003b) injected mature gel into open fractures and recorded solvent leakoff. Rupture pressures were measured during water or oil chase floods. He found that the pressure required to mobilize gel in the wormholes during chase floods.

was comparable to the pressure attained during gel placement, which was largely controlled by the fracture aperture.

Previous work could not be used to directly compare the two gel placement methods, due to variations in fracture aperture, core material and chemical composition, as well as the general experimental setups. In **Paper 1**, gel rupture pressure and blocking capacity after rupture was therefore investigated experimentally in similar systems to accurately evaluate and compare the methods. Immature gel and mature gel were placed in fractured core plugs for conformance control, and gel resistance to washout was measured during water chase floods. Unified core properties, fracture dimensions, assembly methods and experimental conditions ensured direct comparability of the two placement methods.

#### Gel stability after placement in fractures

After placement in a fracture, gel may undergo processes that reduce its pressure resistance, e.g. syneresis and dehydration. Syneresis is caused by chemical reactions over time, and believed to be largely controlled by an increasing cross-link density, which causes the gel volume to shrink and consequently expel water (Bryant *et al.* 1996, Nguyen *et al.* 2000, Vossoughi 2000, Romero-Zeron *et al.* 2008). Nguyen *et al.* (2004) reported that syneresis caused a maximum decrease in gel volume of 1.2% during the course of four months. Dehydration is characterized by a reduction of the gel volume due to the expulsion of solvent from the gel, and has previously been observed during fluid flow through micro models and sand packs containing gel (Dawe and Zhang 1994, Al-Sharji *et al.* 1999, Nguyen *et al.* 2004), and through bulk volumes of gel (Krishnan *et al.* 2000). These authors suggested that imposing a pressure gradient on the gel after placement may displace solvent from the gel volume and cause dehydration. The reduction in the gel volume due to dehydration totaled 50-70% in their works.

Although gel behaviour after placement in fractures has been widely studied, it is rarely discussed in conjunction with the properties of an adjacent, oil-saturated matrix. Relative permeability and capillary pressure significantly influence the flow of water in fractured media, and may thus also influence gel behaviour during and after placement, considering that aqueous gels consist mainly of water. **Paper 2** presents a series of experiments where the influence of capillary forces on gel behaviour after placement was evaluated. Strongly water-wet core plugs were saturated by oil and placed in contact with bulk volumes of mature gel. Shortly after contact, capillary forces in the core matrix contributed to spontaneous imbibition of solvent from the gel, i.e. gel dehydration was experimentally verified to occur due to capillary spontaneous imbibition, without imposing a pressure gradient on the system. The gel volume severely decreased due to the extraction of solvent by spontaneous imbibition.

### 2.3. Carbon dioxide- CO<sub>2</sub>

 $CO_2$  flooding for enhanced oil recovery has been commercially applied since the 1970s, when it was first used in Texas (Lambert *et al.* 1996). The use of  $CO_2$  for EOR is rapidly increasing; in 2012,  $CO_2$  EOR contributed to approximately 5% of the USA domestic oil production, and is likely to double by 2020 (Enick and Olsen 2012, Kuuskraa and Wallace 2014).

Recent focus on reducing greenhouse gas emissions has at the same time led to increased efforts within Carbon Capture Utilization and Storage (CCUS). Storage and utilization of  $CO_2$  in mature oil fields is possible, and research emphasizing  $CO_2$  injection for safe long-term storage, and simultaneous  $CO_2$  EOR is currently of great interest, world-wide.  $CO_2$  for EOR has not yet been applied on the Norwegian Continental Shelf (NCS). However, several new carbon capture projects are being planned (Norwegian Ministry of Petroleum and Energy 2011), and recent published data by the Norwegian Petroleum Directorate (Halland *et al.* 2014) describe the potential for using  $CO_2$  in full-scale EOR projects in the North Sea.  $CO_2$  flooding was investigated as an oil recovery method in fractured carbonates in this thesis.

 $CO_2$  floods are immiscible or miscible depending on the reservoir conditions (pressure, temperature and crude oil composition), and are also applicable for WAG (Water Alternating Gas) operations. **Figure 6** shows basic information on the change of  $CO_2$  viscosity and density as functions of temperature and pressure.



Figure 6: Change in viscosity (left) and density (right) as functions of pressure and temperature. The black, dotted line represents a temperature of  $31.1^{\circ}$ C, which at 73.8bar constitute the critical point, where CO<sub>2</sub> transform from gas or liquid phase to supercritical phase. Data generated from Lemmon *et al.* (2014).

### *Miscible CO<sub>2</sub> flooding*

The primary objective of a miscible  $CO_2$ -EOR flood is to reduce post-waterflood residual oil saturation (Bank *et al.* 2007). In 2010, 153 miscible  $CO_2$  floods were executed, of which 139 were in the USA (Al-adasani *et al.* 2012). Because of its properties at typical reservoir conditions,  $CO_2$  is favorable over other gases for use in EOR:  $CO_2$  tends to be miscible with reservoir oil at lower reservoir pressures (Holm 1986), and maintain a high viscosity at higher pressures and temperatures than other miscible gases, e.g. methane (Lambert *et al.* 1996).

Miscibility is defined as a "the ability of two or more substances to form a single homogeneous phase when mixed in all proportions" (Holm 1986), and may occur when gas is injected to displace oil above the minimum miscibility pressure (MMP). MMP vary with e.g. injected gas composition, reservoir temperature and crude oil composition (Yuan et al. 2005). In fractured reservoirs, miscibility between reservoir crude oil and CO<sub>2</sub> remove capillary contrasts and promote viscous crossflow between matrix and fractures, which enable the recovery of capillary trapped oil. Light hydrocarbons vaporize more easily into the gas phase than heavy hydrocarbon components (Holm and Josendal 1974, 1982, Silva and Orr 1987, Hagedorn and Orr 1994), and CO<sub>2</sub> can obtain first contact miscibility with singlecomponent light oils, e.g. n-Decane. First contact miscible fluids instantly mix and form one phase at contact, when mixed at any ratio. Crude oils are complex and have several components, hence CO<sub>2</sub> is not first-contact miscible with most reservoir oils (Martin and Taber 1992, Hemmati-Sarapardeh et al. 2014). Multi-contact miscibility can, however, develop through a mix of condensing (CO<sub>2</sub> condense into the oil) and vaporizing (light oil components vaporize into the  $CO_2$ ) gas drives. After a series of mass transfers between reservoir oil and CO<sub>2</sub>, the interfacial tension between the two diminish and they appear as one phase (Ghomian et al. 2008). In Paper 3, miscible  $CO_2$  floods for EOR were investigated experimentally at reservoir conditions using different oils. CO<sub>2</sub> floods were initiated in both fractured and non-fractured chalk, where n-Decane and North Sea crude oil constituted the oil phases. Important recovery mechanisms in miscible CO<sub>2</sub> flooding are (Bank et al. 2007):

- Oil swelling and decreased oil viscosity, which both occur when reservoir oil and CO<sub>2</sub> mix.
- Extraction of lighter hydrocarbons into the gas phase.
- ✤ An additional viscous pressure in the drive fluid.

The viscous pressure is often absent during gas floods in fractured systems. Dispersion of fluids around the displacement front is, however, of significant importance. Dispersion by convection (mechanical mixing) is the prevailing mechanism in the fracture network, while dispersion by diffusion will influence matrix flow. Dispersion may occur due to differences in concentration (molecular diffusion), temperature (thermal diffusion) or pressure (pressure diffusion) between two areas. Molecular diffusion is especially important in miscible gas flooding in fractured reservoirs (da Silva and Belery 1989, Hu *et al.* 1991, Jamili *et al.* 2011), and Haugen and Firoozabadi (2006) suggested that the mechanism may contribute to up to

25% of the oil recovery. The contribution from molecular diffusion to oil recovery is increased when the flow rate in the matrix is low or when the contact area between injected gas and reservoir oil is high, e.g. in fractured reservoirs.

The presence of water in the pore space may influence oil recovery by  $CO_2$ . Good contact between the injected gas and matrix oil is important to achieve oil recovery by diffusion, but may be inhibited by *water shielding*, where water films prevent contact and mixing between  $CO_2$  and reservoir oil.  $CO_2$  is highly soluble in water, which can aid diffusion through thin water films to recover oil during tertiary recovery applications (Martin and Taber 1992). High water saturations at the onset of  $CO_2$  flooding may, however, inhibit displacement of oil from dead end (*dendritic*) pores or clusters, leaving higher residual oil saturations (Campbell and Orr 1985). Water shielding and the effects on  $CO_2$  EOR were investigated in **Paper 3** during tertiary  $CO_2$  floods at different wetting conditions. Wettability controls the distribution of fluids in the pore space and may therefore influence the location and presence of water films, and hence the efficiency of  $CO_2$  oil recovery.

#### CO<sub>2</sub>-foam

High microscopic sweep efficiency is often achieved in miscible  $CO_2$  floods. Macroscopic sweep efficiency may, however, be low due to the high mobility of the gas phase, which promotes gravity segregation and fluid channeling through fractures.  $CO_2$  mobility may be reduced by mixing of surfactant solution and gas to generate foam. Foam increase the apparent viscosity of the gas phase and provide a viscous pressure to the oil recovery process. An important factor in foam flooding is *foam strength*, which comprise the apparent viscosity, texture and stability of the foam in fractures and porous media (David and Marsden 1969). Foam strength depends e.g. on the amount of gas dispersed in the foam: *the gas fraction* ( $f_g$ ) commonly range from  $f_g = 0.9$  ("dry" foams) to  $f_g = 0.5$  ("wet" foams). Strong foams are recognized by their ability to move trains of dispersed gas bubbles in a system and improve mobility more than "weak" foams, where gas and surfactant solution may flow more or less separately, albeit at higher injection pressure gradients (Li *et al.* 2006).

Foam can, like gas floods, be either miscible or immiscible with the reservoir oil. Immiscible foam floods can be advantageous for enhanced oil recovery, compared to immiscible pure gas, because they provide an additional viscous pressure gradient to the gas flood. Haugen *et al.* (2012) studied immiscible N<sub>2</sub>-foam injections in fractured, oil-wet carbonates, where gas floods prior to conformance control by foam contributed below 10% oil recovery. By injecting pre-generated N<sub>2</sub>-foam, oil recovery was improved, and up to 80%OOIP oil recovery was observed. The high recovery was, however, reached after more than 100PV of foam was injected, and indicated that the oil was displaced by surfactant solution only. In **Paper 4**, N<sub>2</sub>- and CO<sub>2</sub>-foam was injected into fractured oil-wet core plugs at immiscible and miscible conditions to improve oil recovery. A medical CT scanner was used to investigate flow mechanisms and gas flow patterns during immiscible foam injections at different wettability

conditions. We found that gas did, in fact, not enter the matrix at oil-wet conditions, and oil recovery was therefore attributed to the surfactant.

Surfactants can be used independently to promote oil recovery by wettability alteration and spontaneous imbibition, and has shown promising results in the lab with up to 70%OOIP recovery (Austad and Milter 1997, Standnes *et al.* 2002). A major challenge in fractured, oilwet reservoirs, without significant viscous contributions to fluid flow, is enabling the surfactant to contact matrix oil. Foam implementations may, in addition to improving gas flooding, provide surfactant entry to the matrix by a viscous component. Zuta *et al.* (2009) and Zuta and Fjelde (2010) have shown promising results during CO<sub>2</sub>-foam injections in fractured chalk. Foam blocked fractures and high permeable regions and enabled CO<sub>2</sub> to diffuse and flow into the low permeable matrix. The surfactant solution flowing in the fracture system also eventually entered the matrix and recovered oil by wettability alteration and interfacial tension reduction.

### 2.4. Integrated EOR- an opportunity

Integrated EOR (IEOR) (see e.g. Haugen *et al.* (2010a), Fernø *et al.* (2012)) represents a valuable opportunity in EOR operations: combining several EOR methods may improve both the microscopic and macroscopic sweep efficiencies while limiting the need for expensive chemicals. An important goal is to combine methods that optimize conformance control both in-depth and in the near-well area, and thus provide efficient IEOR for fractured reservoirs.

Fractures often dominate fluid flow in a reservoir, and injected fluids channel through the high permeable fracture network instead of displacing oil from the matrix. Fracture channeling, although being a major challenge in many single fluid EOR processes, can also be an advantage: using expensive chemicals to treat the small fracture volume (typically  $\sim 1\%$  of the total pore volume) may improve the performance of less expensive fluids in a multi-step integrated EOR approach. Consider the use of surfactants in a fractured reservoir: because the surfactant solution channel through fractures and contact very little of the matrix oil, injection of significant surfactant volumes may not be economical. Injection of smaller surfactant volumes to treat the fracture surfaces may, however, have a significant effect and be cost-effective. Altering fracture surface wettability towards neutral-wet or less wetting conditions may aid the establishment of capillary continuity by the formation of wetting phase bridges, and thus improve oil recovery from viscous displacement across consecutive matrix blocks during injection of chase fluids. Gel placement to improve conformance by fracture permeability reduction is another example: mature gel will not intrude into porous rock, and only propagate through open fractures. The next step in the integrated EOR process can then be a cost-effective traditional waterflood, a pure gas or foam chase flood, or injection of other EOR chemicals to flood the matrix. The Cr(III)-Acetate-HPAM gel system has a robust chemistry and is insensitive to most oilfield and reservoir interferences. It is also applicable over a broad pH range. These factors combined render the gel system applicable to the acidic conditions associated with  $CO_2$  flooding, where most established oilfield polymer gels are not (Martin and Kovarik 1987, Hild and Wackowski 1999b).

Large volumes of chemicals have been used to attain high recovery factors in many previous EOR studies, i.e. the rates of oil recovery were low. One example is Haugen et al. (2012), who achieved 80% oil recovery, but only after several tens of foam pore volumes had been injected. In many foam applications (see e.g. **Paper 4**) strong foam has to be generated in the fracture before fluids enter and flood the matrix. Reducing fracture conductivity prior to gas or foam injection could enable fluids to enter the matrix at fewer pore volumes injected. **Paper 5** presents an integrated EOR approach, where reduction of fracture permeability by polymer gel was the first step. Mature gel was injected, which ensured treatment of the fracture volume only and reduced the need for chemicals. Subsequent water, surfactant and CO<sub>2</sub>-foam chase floods were implemented to displace oil. The experimental steps were monitored by CT and MRI. *In-situ* imaging provided information on local fluid distributions during chase floods and enabled qualitative analysis of the shape of the displacement front.

## 3. Experimental work and results

Fluid flow through porous media is studied on different scales, ranging from pore scale to field scale (**Figure 7**). Experiments on pore, core and block scale enable selective investigations of single parameters, and their effect on fluid flow. Accurate experimental results are important to understand basic recovery mechanisms, which are needed to describe the complexity of fluid flow at field scale. The experiments in this thesis were performed on core scale. The core plugs were of 1.5" and 2" diameters and core lengths varied from 5 to 12 cm. Four outcrop core materials were used and are described below.



Figure 7: Different scales involved in hydrocarbon research. Parts of the figure was modified from Zitha *et al.* (2011)

Portland chalk from the Portland cement factory in Aalborg, Denmark, also called Rørdal chalk. The rock formation is of Maastrichtian age and consists mainly of coccolith deposits. The composition is to a large extent calcite (99%) with some quartz (1%). Absolute permeability and porosity ranges from 1 to 10 mD, and 43 to 48%, respectively. The Portland chalk material is fairly homogeneous and was previously described by Ekdale and Bromley (1993) and Hjuler (2007).

- Edwards limestone from west Texas, USA. The limestone core material is nonuniform with permeability to water ranging from 3 to 28 mD and porosity values from 16 to 24%. Mercury injections, thin section images and NMR T2 relaxation experiments were used to characterize this rock type, identifying vugs, microporosity and trimodal pore sizes (Tie 2006, Johannesen 2008).
- Bentheimer sandstone from the Gildehausen quarry near Bentheim in Germany. A homogeneous sandstone in terms of porosity (23%) and permeability (1200 mD), with a composition of 95% quartz, 3% kaolinite, and 2% orthoclase (Schutjens et al. 1995, Klein and Reuschle 2003).
- Berea sandstone from Ohio, USA. A Mississippi terrestrial sandstone with homogeneous permeability of 500 mD and approximately 25% porosity, which consist predominantly of quartz (85-90%) and feldspar (3-6%), with small amounts of dolomite (1-2%), clays (6-8%) and iron sulphide (trace amounts) (widely used, see e.g. Churcher et al. (1991)).

Cylindrical core plugs were drilled from larger rock slabs, and cut to length. The surfaces were cleaned using fresh water and the core plugs were thereafter stored at 80°C for several days until completely dry. The core plugs were either saturated by brine and/or mineral oil and used in the strongly water-wet state, or aged by crude oil towards less water-wet or oil-wet conditions. Wettability alteration was performed using a dynamic ageing method based on continuous flushing of crude oil through the core plug at an elevated temperature, extensively described and referenced within Johannesen (2008) and Fernø *et al.* (2010).

### 3.1. Polymer gel for conformance control

Conformance control by polymer gel was studied on core plugs, using all four outcrop core materials. The polymer gel experiments were performed with some variations, and important aspects in the experiments are summarized below.

### Experimental design and preparation

#### Gel system and chemical concentrations

The same polymer gel system was used in all experiments, and was mixed according to **Figure 5** (**Chapter 2**). The solvent was synthetic Ekofisk brine (4% NaCl, 3.4% CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5% MgCl<sub>2</sub> and 0.05% NaN<sub>3</sub>). The polymer (Ciba Alcoflood 935) was dissolved in the brine at 5000ppm (0.5%) polymer concentration. The cross-linking agent was Cr(III)-Acetate, received from the manufacturer in powder form. The powder was dissolved in water and added to the polymer solution at 417ppm active Cr(III)-Acetate concentration (0.04%).

The gel was cross-linked at 41°C for 24 hours (five times the gelation time). *In-situ* cross-linking was performed in some cores, by incubating fractured core plugs in a heating cabinet after injection of immature gel (gelant). Mature gel was more frequently used, where bulk volumes of gel were placed in buffers or beakers and cross-linked at 41°C prior to experiments. The Cr(III)-Acetate-HPAM gel system was extensively described in terms of rheology and chemistry prior to this thesis, see e.g. Liu and Seright (2000), Sydansk *et al.* (2005), Vargas-Vasquez *et al.* (2007), and references within.

#### The fracture aperture

Some core plugs were fractured longitudinally before use in polymer gel experiments. A band saw was used to create smooth fractures. Open fractures of 1 mm aperture were created by placing POM (polyoxymethylene) spacers between the core halves during assembly. These fractures have a significant effect on fluid flow, and fracture permeability was calculated to be approximately 84 400 Darcy, using the cubic law of Witherspoon *et al.* (1980): **Equation 1** may be used to estimate the permeability of open, smooth-walled fractures, with parallel fracture faces. Fracture permeability is in this case only dependent on the fracture aperture, *b*:

$$k_{frac} = \frac{b^2}{12}$$
 Equation 1

#### Fractured core setups

The experimental setups varied in this work, and different core setups were required for use in the various applications. Some important core setups are summarized in this section. In **Paper 5**, specially designed end pieces were placed on the core inlet end face to separate three injectors: the gel injector (fracture only) and the fluid injectors (matrix only). The setup ensured conformance control by gel in the fracture, without reducing injectivity at the inlet end face, thus fluids could flow into the matrix without external obstructions during chase floods. To separate fracture and matrix production at the outlet, matrix taps could be utilized. Matrix taps are fittings or tubing put in direct contact with the rock surface that could be used as additional outlets during fluid flow. They were also used as inlets during immature gel injections, where the goal was to increase the gel saturation in the matrix. Matrix taps were implemented in most cores in **Paper 1**. The majority of cores used in Paper 1, Paper 2, Paper 5 and Paper 6, and some cores in Paper 4, were coated in epoxy prior to experiments. Epoxy coating enabled core flooding at elevated pressures without using a core holder, and was used 1) when the cores were moved between setups and disturbances in overburden pressure could not be risked (Paper 1), 2) during spontaneous imbibition, where only a portion of the core was open to flow (Paper 2) and 3) during *in-situ* imaging by MRI, where two-phase flow in the core matrix was monitored during injection of gel, foam, surfactant and water (**Paper 4**, **Paper 5** and **Paper 6**).

#### Gel resistance to washout

Polymer gel resistance to washout during chase floods largely controls the success of the conformance control treatment, and was evaluated experimentally in **Paper 1**. Immature or mature gel was placed in fractured cores, and rupture pressures and subsequent pressure drops across the cores were measured during waterfloods. The experimental steps are summarized in **Figure 8**, and detailed experimental description is found in **Paper 1**.



Figure 8: The experimental steps involved in investigation of gel resistance as a function of gel maturity during injection.

The first step was immature and mature gel injection into fractured core plugs to reduce fracture permeability and improve conformance during chase floods. Gelant (immature gel) was injected into the core matrix through the matrix taps, using different injection schemes to control the gelant saturation in the matrix (**Figure 8, middle**). Mature gel flowed in the fracture only during injection, due to its structure. Gel dehydration by water leakoff occurred during propagation through the fracture: water that left the gel progressed through the matrix and was produced through matrix taps and recorded. After gel placement, the cores were shut-in for 24 hours at ambient temperature (mature gel), or an elevated temperature to allow *in-situ* gelation (immature gel). Chase waterfloods were initiated with all matrix outlets closed, hence water flowed through the gel filled fracture. Rupture pressures, and subsequent fracture permeability reduction provided by the gel, was measured.

Comparable rupture pressures were achieved after placement of gel at both maturities. Rupture pressures measured after placement of mature gel in fractures were stable and predictable. Increasing rupture pressures were observed when the injected gel volume increased, with some dependency on gel placement rate. Rupture pressures after immature gel placement and *in-situ* gelation were less predictable, and highly dependent on the gel saturation in the matrix. Ganguly *et al.* (2002) observed that gel did not form when gel was placed in the fracture without penetrating the adjacent matrix. Our findings support this, and gel was in many cases not formed when gelant saturation in the matrix was low. The lack of gelation represents a concern in reservoirs where gelant entry into porous rock is inhibited: 1) at oil-wet conditions, where a threshold pressure must be overcome to invade the matrix, 2) in rock of narrow pore throat radii, for example chalk, and 3) in far-wellbore applications in fractured reservoirs, where gelant channel through fractures at a low pressure gradient.

In some cores of Bentheimer sandstone core material, rupture pressures measured after *insitu* gelation applications were close to zero, and interactions were observed between the rock and gelant, which caused incomplete cross-linking, i.e. gel did not form. Previous works have described similar effects, especially in sandstone (Stavland and Nilsson 1995, Wilton and Asghari 2007, Seright 2009), and proposed that *in-situ* gelation did not occur due to chromium retention due to precipitation/adsorption. Wilton and Asghari (2007) and Seright (2009) performed experimental steps to force gelation, and the core matrix was preflushed with chromium before gelant injection, or gelant was placed with chromium overload.

Chase waterflooding continued after the gel ruptured. The gel blocking capacity after rupture was dependent on gel maturity during placement, because maturity controls how gel behaves during injection, and consequently how it deposits in the fracture. Gel maturity during placement controls: 1) whether gel extrudes through porous rock, thereby creating a gripping effect between fracture and matrix, and 2) water leakoff during propagation through a fracture, which control the distribution and size of wormholes. Mature and

immature gel injection both resulted in improved conformance during waterfloods, however, fracture permeability reduction by mature gel was more efficient. The improved blocking capacity from mature gel placement may be explained by the occurrence of wormholes: when the rupture pressure is reached during chase floods, the fresh gel residing in wormholes is presumably displaced, while the dehydrated gel surrounding the wormholes still resides in the fracture. Thus, the water flowing through the gel-filled fracture is contained in the narrow flow channels constituting the wormholes. The gel forming in the fracture after immature gel injection is of original composition, and is prone to dehydration caused by the induced pressure gradient during chase floods. Gel erosion occurs in a different manner, and may open larger sections of the fracture to flow. **Figure 9** illustrates how the gel maturity during placement influences gel formation in the fracture.



Figure 9: Left: Immature gel is assumed to flow into the adjacent matrix as well as through the fracture during injection. The gel that forms in and around the fracture is of uniform composition. Right: Mature gel cannot flow into porous media, but solvent leakoff during placement may increase the concentration of the gel. Gel of injected composition is present in narrow flow channels (wormholes) through the highly concentrated gel.

#### Capillary influence on gel stability

**Paper 1** use core plugs saturated with water only in experiments, which is often the case when investigating polymer gel behaviour on core scale. Using core plugs with single phase saturation by the gel solvent to simulate the reservoir matrix disregards basic two phase effects. Relative permeability and capillary pressure are of importance during multi-phase flow in fractured reservoirs, and can also affect the success of conformance control. Experiments were performed to evaluate the influence of capillary effects in a strongly water-wet matrix on the properties of an aqueous gel. The work is detailed in **Paper 2**.

#### Spontaneous imbibition in gel

Spontaneous imbibition experiments, applying all faces open (AFO) boundary conditions were first performed in strongly water-wet rock to evaluate the rate of water extrusion from the gel by capillary spontaneous imbibition. Portland chalk core plugs were directly saturated by mineral oil under vacuum and submerged in mature gel. Imbibition, visible by oil production from the core, commenced shortly after submersion in gel, and continued until the residual oil saturation was reached.

Direct visual recording of produced oil as a function of time was challenging in gel/oil AFO applications. In water/oil systems, AFO spontaneous imbibition experiments are relatively simple to perform, and direct visual recording of produced oil is often possible, e.g. using Amott imbibition cells. When core plugs were submerged in mature gel, a dehydrated gel layer formed on the core surface during imbibition, and produced oil was trapped in the gel layer or the overlying gel for a long period of time. **Figure 10** shows parts of a chalk core submerged in gel during AFO spontaneous imbibition experiments. The oil drops seen above the core surface were not rapidly floating to the surface as they would in water/oil applications, but were captured within the gel for hours, and sometimes for the remainder of the experiment. By visual inspection, the core imbibition process seemed slow and the image of the core and surrounding oil drops remained virtually unchanged for hours, with oil drops on the surface growing and random oil drops detaching from the core.



Figure 10: A chalk core surface during imbibition in mature gel. Oil drops were captured in gel for a long period of time, and the saturation could appear to be static for hours at a time.

Several experimental approaches were tested to measure the oil recovery rate during imbibition, but were not accurate. These include continuous weight recordings of the core and gel, and separation of bulk gel and trapped oil by centrifuging or chemical dissolution. An experimental setup was finally tested, where the core was removed from the gel bath at given time steps and weighed with the dehydrated gel film on its surface. Oil production as a function of time was successfully measured and reproduced through several experiments, applying this method. The experiments were recognized to hold a high uncertainty, because removal of the core from the gel bath disrupted imbibition and disturbed the boundary conditions during the experiment.

A new experimental setup for measuring co-current imbibition was at the same time developed at the University of Bergen by Haugen *et al.* (2014). Their setup was an adaption to two ends open (TEO) boundary conditions, called *TEO free spontaneous imbibition* (TEOFSI), where one core end face was in contact with water (the imbibing fluid) and the production end face was in contact with oil. The capillary back pressure was not acting on the end face contacted by oil, hence oil in place could be produced from the core without resistance. In water/oil imbibition experiments applying TEOFSI boundary conditions, a small volume of oil was produced counter-currently at the start of imbibition, but all subsequent production of oil occurred co-currently. This was also observed when the setup was tested in gel/oil applications, and direct visual recordings of co-current oil production were possible for the majority of spontaneous imbibition. The measured imbibition rate was slower when cores were submerged in gel, than in water/oil systems, although the flow properties within the core remained unchanged. This was caused by a concentrated layer of gel forming on the imbibing core surfaces during gel dehydration, and acting as a low permeability barrier to flow. A schematic of the experimental setup is shown in **Figure 11**.



Figure 11: Experimental setup for TEOFSI spontaneous imbibition experiments in gel. The figure was modified from Haugen *et al.* (2014).

#### Gel shrinkage

Gel dehydration and shrinkage, caused by spontaneous imbibition, were the most important implications of this experimental work. The polymer gel network, in which the strongly water-wet cores were submerged, was inflated by ~99.5% water, and when capillary forces in the matrix attracted gel-bound water, a significant decrease in gel volume followed.

Up to 99% of the initial gel volume was lost due to spontaneous imbibition of water from gel in our experiments, with severe implications for gel blockage capacity during chase floods. Polymer gel is more efficient in reducing fracture permeability if a significant portion of the fracture volume is gel-filled. In a completely gel-filled fracture, spontaneous imbibition reduces the gel volume over time and inhibits gel from blocking the entire fracture crosssection. Parts of the fracture volume can conduct fluid flow, and the gel treatment becomes less efficient. Figure 12 illustrates the effect of gel shrinkage on fluid flow in a fractured system. The increase in fracture permeability caused by gel shrinkage was calculated using Darcy flow calculations for parallel layers, detailed in **Paper 2** and was highly dependent on the fracture aperture for gel shrinkage below 20% of the initial gel volume. 99% shrinkage from spontaneous imbibition was detrimental to gel conformance control treatments in all fracture apertures, and fracture permeabilities returned to the original levels. The demonstration of capillary influences on gel behaviour has important implications for gel use in fields where the wettability tends towards water-wet, and may help explain why some gel treatments are less successful. Several authors have reported that gel treatments have in some cases been less effective than expected in reducing producing well water cut, or that gel treatments have lost efficiency with time (White et al. 1973, Seright et al. 2003, Portwood 2005).



Initially: gel-filled fracture

After SI and gel shrinkage

Figure 12: left: when low permeable polymer gel is placed in a fracture to reduce fracture permeability, water may enter into matrix blocks at an increased viscous pressure gradient during chase floods. Right: gel shrinkage cause parts of the initially gel-filled fracture to re-open to flow, and gel blocking efficiency is reduced. Waterflood commence through the open portion of the fracture.

#### Gel placement and flow diversion at oil-wet conditions

The experiments in **Paper 2** verified that two-phase flow functions in a matrix may influence the properties of an adjacent gel. At oil-wet conditions, capillary forces limit the intrusion of water to the matrix, and spontaneous imbibition of water from aqueous gels (and thereby loss of gel integrity) is less likely. Oil recovery by waterflooding is not efficient in fractured, oil-wet formations for the same reason, and they are attractive targets for EOR operations. Experimental results from **Paper 5** are presented, where conformance control by polymer gel was investigated as the first step in an integrated EOR method to improve waterflood efficiency in an oil-wet limestone core ( $I_{AH} = -0.7$ ). All experimental steps were monitored through *in-situ* imaging by a medical CT scanner.

#### Waterflooding

A water preflush was first performed, where water was injected directly into the matrix through two separate injectors. Total oil recovery was 4%OOIP, and mainly attributed to the injector positions. At dimensionless length  $X_D = 0.1$ , visualized by the CT, water broke through to the fracture and channeled to the outlet end. No further oil recovery from the matrix was seen during water injection prior to conformance control.

#### Gel placement

Mature gel was injected into the fracture to reduce fracture permeability and increase waterflood efficiency during chase floods. During injection, the gel reached the outlet after one fracture volume (1FV) injected, suggesting that water leakoff did not occur. This was verified by the CT scans: no saturation changes in the matrix were detected. This may be explained by capillary forces that were present in the matrix, and prevented the entry of gelbound water below a capillary threshold pressure. The gel did therefore not dehydrate during extrusion through the fracture, unlike **Paper 1**, where capillary forces were not present and gel dehydration was controlled by the pressure gradient across the fracture.

#### Chase waterflooding

Chase waterflooding was performed after gel was placed in the fracture for conformance control. Gel in the fracture was of the original composition and had not concentrated or allowed wormhole formation during extrusion. The recovery during chase water injection was 7%OOIP and 15%OOIP for the core halves, respectively, despite gel in the fracture being of original composition. Injected water entered the fracture at  $X_D = 0.4$ , after which no further oil recovery was seen. **Figure 13** shows CT images taken after low rate polymer gel injection (**Figure 13**, top), and chase waterflooding (**Figure 13**, bottom). A significant change in saturation was seen at the inlet end of the core plug subsequent to chase waterflooding, especially in the upper core half. The displacement front, visualized by CT, was quickly dispersed during water injection. Hence, oil was mainly displaced from the matrix close to the fracture.



Figure 13: CT images of an oil-wet limestone core after low rate polymer gel placement (top), and chase water injection (bottom).

Measuring the rate of solvent leakoff from the gel is important. The leakoff rate describes the concentration of the gel in the fracture, and thus its ability to divert chase fluids. It also gives important information on gel propagation in a fracture, and the distance of gel intrusion in a formation can be assessed. The general opinion has been that leakoff occur when gel propagate through a fracture at any given rate, and that the limiting factor in achieving leakoff is the pressure needed to enter the fracture. This pressure is largely controlled by the fracture aperture, and does not vary significantly with injection rate. This theory has been verified in several experiments, where core plugs saturated by one phase only have been used. Leakoff was attained at all injection rates, ranging from 6 to 200 ml/h in Paper 1, and Seright (2003a) measured equal leakoff rates in cores of 1.5 mD and 650 mD permeability when gel was injected at a high flow rate, and proposed that leakoff of solvent from mature gel was largely independent of changes in permeability and lithology. Paper 2 and the experiment described above, from **Paper 5**, show that wettability, and wettability dependent saturation functions in the matrix, affect gel behaviour during placement. Thus, leakoff is not solely controlled by fracture properties; matrix properties must also be assessed when considering gel placement in a fracture where the adjacent matrix is saturated by more than one phase.

This thesis clearly shows that the fluid saturation in the matrix, and associated saturation functions, heavily influence conformance control by gel and are important when assessing gel behaviour, during and after placement, in hydrocarbon reservoirs. The transport of gelbound water into an adjacent matrix depend on wettability, and: 1) may occur by spontaneous capillary imbibition of water from the gel in water-wet systems, without imposing an external pressure gradient on the system, and 2) may not occur in oil-wet systems due to capillary forces in the matrix that do not allow solvent entry during gel

injection. This indicates that gel behaviour is dependent on matrix properties, above all wettability. Other matrix parameters, such as pore size distribution (rock type) and saturation also influence the ease at which the water leaves the gel or fracture and goes on to flood the matrix.

### 3.2. CO<sub>2</sub> flooding

#### Experiments and preparation

Whole and fractured core plugs were used to study enhanced oil recovery by  $CO_2$  flooding. The core plugs were saturated, drained, in some cases aged and frequently fractured before they were subjected to secondary and tertiary  $CO_2$  floods.  $CO_2$  flooding was performed using  $CO_2$  in gas, liquid and supercritical phase, alone and mixed with surfactant solution to form foam. Temperature and pressure varied between the experiments, from ambient to reservoir conditions; hence,  $CO_2$  was immiscible or miscible dependent on the experimental conditions.

Experiments that involve the use of gas require caution at high pressures and temperatures, due to significant changes in density between ambient and experimental conditions (see Figure 6). Figure 14 shows a generalized experimental setup for  $CO_2$  and  $N_2$ -/ $CO_2$ -foam injections.  $CO_2$  was in most cases introduced to the system through an accumulator or a piston pump: injection pumps with small volume cylinders were not able to pressurize the highly compressible gas and deliver it to the system without significant uncertainty in the flow rate. The accumulator was placed in a heating cabinet or at room temperature and was filled with CO<sub>2</sub> and pressurized to the experimental pore pressure before injection. It was important that  $CO_2$  reached the specified temperature conditions prior to entering the core, due to significant changes in injected  $CO_2$  density and viscosity as functions of temperature. This was achieved by injecting the gas through a coiled injection tubing of approximately 3 meters length placed ahead of the core in the heating cabinet. In foam applications,  $N_2$  or CO<sub>2</sub>-foam was pre-generated through a sandpack or Bentheimer sandstone core (either termed a foam generator in the experimental setup) at a gas fraction of  $f_a=0.9$  prior to injection. The pore pressure was controlled using a back pressure regulator (BPR) pressurized by a Nitrogen  $(N_2)$  gas tank.

#### *Miscible CO<sub>2</sub> injections for EOR in fractured carbonates*

**Paper 3** investigates the effect of oil composition during  $CO_2$  EOR. Both secondary and tertiary  $CO_2$  injections were performed using n-Decane and a North Sea chalk reservoir crude oil as the oil phase. Whole and fractured chalk core plugs at different wetting conditions were used. The experiments were performed at elevated temperature and pressure conditions of  $40^{\circ}C/95$ bar (n-Decane) and  $75^{\circ}C/208$ bar (crude oil).



Figure 14: Experimental setup for pure CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>-/CO<sub>2</sub>-foam injections.

#### Influence of oil composition on secondary CO<sub>2</sub> flooding

Secondary  $CO_2$  floods yielded high oil recoveries, where the end point depended on the oil composition in the core. When the oil phase was a one-component mineral oil (n-Decane,  $C_{10}H_{22}$ ), oil recovery of 96%OOIP was reached during  $CO_2$  flooding of both fractured and whole cores, at 4PV CO<sub>2</sub> injected in the fractured system, compared to 2PV (non-fractured). The high recovery in the fractured cores were mainly products of relatively large fracture volumes compared to the total core pore volumes, which made contributions from diffusion a major recovery mechanism. Oil recovery decreased and prolonged tail production was observed when complex hydrocarbons (North Sea crude oil) constituted the oil phase, due to the development of multi-contact miscibility. Diffusion was less efficient as a recovery mechanism in crude oil systems that contained both light and heavy hydrocarbon components: light hydrocarbons were efficiently recovered, by vaporizing into the CO<sub>2</sub>. Heavier hydrocarbon components were not as easily dissolved into the gas phase, and were produced during tail production or remained in the core to constitute the residual oil saturation. Visual inspections of the effluents indicated a variance in produced oil composition, and the crude oil produced early in the experiment (after  $CO_2$  breakthrough) was less viscous than the oil produced after significant tail production. Although dependent on  $CO_2$  density, oil components up to  $C_{30}$  are considered to be relatively efficiently extracted by the gas phase (Silva and Orr 1987). The North Sea crude oil consisted of 28%  $C_{30}$ + components, which explains the higher residual oil saturation endpoint.

#### Tertiary CO<sub>2</sub> flooding at different wetting conditions

 $CO_2$  floods were implemented in tertiary recovery mode, after waterflooding, in **Paper 3** and **Paper 4**. A significant difference in recovery was observed compared to secondary  $CO_2$  floods. Viscous recovery of oil was attained by  $CO_2$  flooding in whole cores, while fractured cores were severely affected by the presence of water films: water prevented contact and mixing between the  $CO_2$  and oil phase, hence recovery by diffusion was low. **Figure 15** shows the development in oil saturation during waterflooding and tertiary  $CO_2$  flooding of fractured core plugs at strongly water-wet and neutral-wet conditions (**Paper 3**), and at oil-wet conditions (**Paper 4**).



Figure 15: Decrease in oil saturation during waterflooding (blue) and miscible  $CO_2$  flooding (red) in fractured, strongly water-wet (circles), neutral-wet (triangles), and oil-wet (crosses) cores. The water-wet and neutral-wet core data are from Paper 3, and the oil-wet data set from Paper 4.

Wettability controls the distribution of fluids in the pore space and influenced oil recovery during tertiary  $CO_2$  floods in fractured cores: efficient waterflooding of the strongly waterwet core resulted in pronounced water shielding and an inefficient subsequent  $CO_2$  flood. At neutral wetting conditions, waterflooding of the fractured core produced less oil. The tertiary  $CO_2$  flood could therefore contact, and mix with, the oil phase in several locations, and produced 59%OOIP of additional oil. The total oil recovery from the strongly water-wet and neutral-wet cores was comparable. In the oil-wet core, waterflooding and  $CO_2$  flooding were both inefficient. This experiment is not directly comparable to the other two, due to a

closed fracture, n-Decane in place of crude oil, and lower experimental pressure conditions (lower  $CO_2$  density and viscosity), but illustrates an important point: several pore volumes of  $CO_2$  were required to reach the residual oil saturation during miscible gas floods of fractured core plugs in both **Paper 3** and **Paper 4**. Figure 15 shows that residual oil saturations were not reached during injection of close to 6PV  $CO_2$  for the neutral-wet and oil-wet cores, because:

- The high mobility of the gas phase caused fracture channeling and a swift breakthrough of gas.
- Molecular diffusion was the main recovery mechanism in fractured core plugs, and is a slow process.

#### Miscible and immiscible CO<sub>2</sub>-foam for tertiary oil recovery

Mixing CO<sub>2</sub> with a surfactant solution to form foam decrease the mobility of the flowing gas phase and improve conformance by contributing a viscous component to the core flood. Foam constituents (gas and surfactant) can be diverted into the matrix to efficiently recover oil. CO<sub>2</sub>-foam flooding was investigated for tertiary EOR in fractured, strongly water-wet and weakly oil-wet carbonates in **Paper 4**. Waterflooding at oil-wet conditions was inefficient (0-24%OOIP) and the potential for enhanced oil recovery during tertiary recovery operations was high.

The oil-wet core plugs had closed, longitudinal fractures, and the fracture permeability ranged from 0.3 to 2Darcy.  $CO_2$ -foam floods were performed at both miscible and immiscible conditions after waterflooding to improve conformance and enhance oil recovery. **Figure 16** shows the oil recovery achieved during tertiary injection of miscible (red lines) and immiscible (blue lines)  $CO_2$ -foam. Oil recovery from  $CO_2$  flooding without conformance control is shown for comparison (black line). Miscible foam floods recovered more oil, at a higher rate, compared to the other investigated applications, and the recovery end point was reached within 2PV foam injected. Up to 35PV of  $CO_2$ -foam were injected to reach the endpoint in immiscible applications. *In-situ* imaging by CT revealed that gas did not enter the matrix to recover oil during immiscible N<sub>2</sub>-foam injections at oil-wet conditions. Oil recovery during immiscible foam injection was hence attributed to the aqueous surfactant solution, which entered the core to displace oil at an increased viscous pressure gradient provided by the foam. This results support the findings of Haugen *et al.* (2012), who reached the oil saturation end point after injection of more than 40PV foam at oil-wet conditions, suggesting that the oil was recovered by surfactant solution only.



Figure 16: Efficiency of tertiary miscible and immiscible  $CO_2$ -foam floods in fractured, oil-wet limestone cores. The black line illustrates tertiary recovery by pure, miscible  $CO_2$ .

Foam applications in fractured systems were more efficient when both foam constituents entered the matrix, i.e. in miscible foam applications. Still, more than 2PV foam was needed to reach maximum recovery: displacement of matrix oil required strong foam to be generated in the fractures first, and provide the viscous pressure needed to enter the matrix. Conformance control through fracture permeability reduction prior to foam injection may enable entry of foam to the matrix at injection onset, thus fewer PV are needed to recover oil. Integrated EOR methods that combine near-wellbore and in-depth conformance technologies with chemical EOR technologies, are of growing interest in the oil industry (Manrique *et al.* 2010).

### 3.3. Integrated EOR

**Paper 5** experimentally investigates an integrated EOR approach, where the first step is polymer gel injection to reduce fracture permeability. Conformance control by polymer gel enables fluids to enter matrix blocks at increased pressure gradients during chase floods, thereby enhancing oil recovery.

The experiments were performed using fractured, oil-wet limestone core plugs. Capillary forces at the oil-wet conditions prevented water entry to the matrix: spontaneous imbibition of the oil phase was observed during wettability measurements, using the Amott method,

while the Amott water index was zero. No imbibition of water suggested that aqueous gel could be used without expecting gel shrinkage after placement. *In-situ* imaging by a medical CT scanner, as well as magnetic resonance imaging in a low-field 8 MHz MRI (DRX) machine, enabled a detailed view of the fluid distributions during all experimental steps.

#### Waterflooding

Waterflooding of the fractured system was performed before implementation of EOR methods, to establish baseline recovery. Oil recovery of up to 10.7 %OOIP was observed, primarily near the inlet end. Waterflood oil recovery was caused by forced injection of water into the matrix through specially designed end pieces (ref. **Chapter 3.1** and **Paper 5**). Water quickly channeled through the matrix and reached the open fracture. No further oil recovery from the core matrix was detected after water breakthrough to the fracture.

#### Gel placement

When polymer gel propagates through a fracture, solvent leakoff may occur. During low rate gel injection in one of the oil-wet cores ( $I_{AH} = -0.7$ ), leakoff was not observed, due to a capillary threshold pressure in the matrix. Four additional gel placements were performed, where the pressure differential between the fracture and matrix was high enough to enable water entry to the core matrix, and oil was consequently displaced. Up to 34%OOIP was recovered from the matrix during polymer gel injection, caused by two factors: 1) the fracture volume in the experiment was large relative to the core pore volume, thus the injection of less than ten fracture volumes of gel corresponded to one pore volume injected. 2) The injection pressure, which was the driving force for water leakoff, was high. During *insitu* monitoring by MRI, the core had to be mounted vertically. Polymer gel injection into fracture reservoirs is not expected to contribute to significant oil recovery, because 1) the water leakoff rate, and hence the volumetric oil displacement rate during gel placement, is low, 2) the fracture volume constitute a smaller part of the reservoir pore volume, and 3) injection time is limited to days or weeks.

#### Chase floods

Water, foam and surfactant chase floods were performed in the fractured core plugs after implementation of conformance control by polymer gel. The *in-situ* displacement processes were visualized by CT and MRI. Dispersed displacement fronts were observed during chase floods by water and surfactant solution, and oil was mainly displaced from the matrix close to the fracture. Chase flooding by immiscible CO<sub>2</sub>-foam was performed to mitigate fluid dispersion around the displacement front. The results are described below, and compared to results from **Paper 4**.

Immiscible foam floods for tertiary EOR were investigated in **Paper 4** and **Paper 5**, at analogues core properties and wettability conditions (weakly oil-wet). **Table 3** shows core properties and experimental data for the core plugs. In **Paper 5**, polymer gel was placed in the fracture for conformance control prior to CO<sub>2</sub>-foam flooding. In **Paper 4**, foam floods were performed directly after waterflooding: *in-situ* imaging by CT showed that oil was displaced by surfactant solution only at the given wetting conditions. The surfactant was able to flood the matrix at an increased viscous pressure gradient provided by the foam. **Figure 17** shows the *in-situ* development in oil saturation during immiscible CO<sub>2</sub>-foam flooding of core EDW36 (no conformance control prior to foam). Oil was mainly displaced from the matrix area close to the fracture, presumably by surfactant solution.

Table 3: Overview of selected core properties, experimental data and results from immiscible CO<sub>2</sub>foam floods in fractured, oil-wet core plugs. CO<sub>2</sub>-foam floods were initiated directly after waterflooding in core EDW36 and EDW37, while polymer gel was placed in the fracture for conformance control before foam flooding of core B.

Ref.	Core	Wetta- bility [І <sub>АН</sub> ]	k <sub>frac</sub> [D]	<sup>1</sup> WF oil recovery	Conformance control prior to foam	Foam inj. [PV]	Recovery [%00IP]
Paper 4	EDW36	-0.2	1.188	9.3	No	32	20.5
Paper 4	EDW37	-0.2	2.020	23.8	No	30	14.8
Paper 5	В	-0.2	<sup>2</sup> 84400	10.7	Polymer gel	12.7	28.0

<sup>1</sup>WF = waterflood.

<sup>2</sup>fracture permeability calculated from Witherspoon et al. (1980), Equation 1.



Figure 17: Development in oil saturation during immiscible foam flooding of fractured, oil-wet core plug EDW36. Foam was injected left to right.

In core B, polymer gel was placed in the fracture prior to  $CO_2$ -foam flooding, and both foam constituents (gas and surfactant solution) entered the matrix during the foam flood. A higher injection pressure was observed during  $CO_2$ -foam flooding of core B than for cores EDW36 and EDW37, which indicated that gas and surfactant both propagated through the porous matrix to displace oil. Immiscible foam injection after conformance control by polymer gel provided 28%OOIP additional oil recovery during 12.7 PV foam injected. In comparison,

recovery factors of 14 to 20%OOIP were obtained during injection of more than 30PV foam in EDW36 and EDW37. The initial fracture permeability for core B was high, at approximately 8.4\*10<sup>4</sup>Darcy, calculated by **Eq.1**. Core plugs EDW36 and EDW37 had closed fractures with lower fracture permeabilities of 1 to 2Darcy, as well as higher oil saturations at the onset of CO<sub>2</sub>-foam injection, and were as such more likely to obtain high oil recovery factors by foam flooding. Improved sweep efficiency was visually observed by MRI during foam injection (**Paper 5**): foam flooding was observed to give more stable displacement fronts compared to e.g. chase waterflooding (**Figure 13**) in oil-wet media, and was less prone to viscous fingering. The combination of two established EOR methods to improve conformance in both the fracture and matrix has important implications for future work on developing efficient integrated EOR schemes.

# 3.4. Measurement of two-phase flow functions during waterfloods

When two, or several, immiscible phases flow simultaneously in a porous medium, saturation functions are of importance. Relative permeability and capillary pressure have several times in this thesis been shown to influence fluid flow and EOR processes in porous media. Relative permeability is "a direct measure of the ability of the porous system to conduct one fluid when one or more fluids are present. These flow properties are the composite effect of pore geometry, wettability, fluid distribution and saturation history" (Anderson 1987c). The notion of capillary pressure in a porous medium is based on the curvature of the interface between two immiscible fluids: whenever the interface is curved, the pressure will abruptly increase across it to balance interfacial tension (IFT). This pressure jump is the capillary pressure. "The radii of curvature of the interface, and hence the capillary pressure, are determined by local pore geometry, wettability, saturation and saturation history" (Anderson 1987a). Relative permeability and capillary pressure are heavily influenced by the method of measurement, and different curves may be obtained from static (steady state) methods compared to dynamic (unsteady state) methods. Accurate methods for measuring relative permeability and capillary pressure during dynamic floods are always in demand. An experimental method for determining imbibition relative permeabilities from a single waterflood is presented in Paper 6.

Steady state methods are sometimes preferred for relative permeability measurements: reservoir simulators require input relative permeability curves that are applicable over a large saturation interval, which steady state methods provide. The methods require simultaneous injection of two immiscible fluids, and equilibrium between inflow and outflow fluid ratios at several saturations. The challenges in using steady state methods follow from this: 1) the method is time consuming, and 2) simultaneous injection of two immiscible fluids mixes the drainage and imbibition processes, and may thus fail to capture the true

properties of a pure imbibition (or drainage) process (Eleri et al. 1995). Unsteady state methods are based one fluid displacing another (immiscible fluid) using a constant injection rate or pressure. Continuous measurements of pressure and saturation during oil- or waterflooding are used to generate relative permeability curves. Saturation from effluents and absolute differential pressure over a core sample are commonly used as basis for calculation, applying the JBN method (Johnson et al. 1959) or similar (Jones and Roszelle 1978) to generate the relative permeabilities. The approximations implied in the calculations are coarse and do not account for capillary pressure, capillary end effects and the rapid pressure changes across the displacement front. Average core saturation measured from fluid effluents collected at the core outlet provide relative permeability curves over a limited saturation range, because calculation methods are only valid during two-phase production, in addition to adding significant uncertainty to the calculations. Many recent unsteady state methods (Jennings Jr. et al. 1988, Chardaire-Riviere 1992, Mejia et al. 1995, Goodfield et al. 2001, Schembre and Kovscek 2002, Lackner and Torsaeter 2005) utilize in-situ measurements of either saturation or pressure, and use numerical methods to estimate the other. Relative permeability curves are then generated by simulation.

A technique was developed by Kolltveit *et al.* (1990), which enabled simultaneous *in-situ* measurement of both pressure and saturation. They used Nuclear Tracer Imaging (NTI) to quantify core saturation during flow and measured absolute fluid pressure at two different locations along the core length. Simultaneous measurements of saturation and pressure *in-situ* were used to calculate relative permeability. In **Paper 6** we developed this method further: we used high resolution Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) to monitor saturation, and local phase pressures were measured in two locations by implementing two oil-wet and two water-wet semi-permeable discs in the core. *In-situ* monitoring of saturation enabled accurate descriptions of fluid distribution in different locations. Continuous measurement of oil/water phase pressures during waterfloods, in conjunction with saturation data, produced dynamic capillary pressure curves without approximations. Relative permeability was calculated explicitly using measured capillary pressure, saturation and rate data.

Chalk cores at different wettability conditions were subjected to this method, using the experimental setup sketched in **Figure 18**. **Figure 19** shows the extracted water and oil relative permeability curves for a strongly water-wet Portland chalk core, compared to conventional relative permeabilities from steady state experiments.



Figure 18: Experimental setup for monitoring *in-situ* saturation development and measuring phase pressures during waterfloods. The collected data set can be used to extract unsteady-state relative permeability curves, or to estimate core wettability during core floods, because the phase pressure response separates the spontaneous and forced part of a water imbibition process (Brautaset *et al.* 2010).



Figure 19: Relative permeabilities measured during waterflooding of a strongly water-wet chalk core. The differences in water relative permeability curves between the unsteady state and conventional data is believed to be caused by spontaneous capillary imbibition of water into the core at water-wet conditions. Spontaneous behaviour is suppressed by the characteristics of a steady state method, while enabling higher water flow rates at unsteady states.

# 4. Conclusions

This thesis investigated polymer gel and  $CO_2$ -foam behaviour in conjunction with oil saturated porous media at different wettability conditions, and improved the understanding of conformance control for EOR in fractured media. The main contributions of the work in this thesis are listed below.

- The rupture pressures measured after placement of polymer gel in fractures was comparable after placement of immature gel, cross-linked insitu, and mature gel. Gel blocking ability before rupture in fractured, water saturated core plugs was independent on gel maturity during placement (provided gel formed), hence, injection scheme may be chosen based on other criteria, e.g. desired pressure gradients, injection volume, near-well or far wellbore application, etc.
- Research on polymer gel behaviour was extended to water and oil saturated media. Two important observations were made:

1) Water left mature gel due to capillary spontaneous imbibition into a strongly water-wet adjacent matrix. Spontaneous imbibition was measured applying different boundary conditions, and shown to be slower than for oil/water systems. An important implication of capillary extraction of solvent from gel was gel shrinkage. Up to 99% of the original gel volume was lost during shrinkage, and may help explain why gel treatments in some field applications have lost efficiency with time.

2) The leakoff effect, where water leaves mature gel during extrusion through a fracture, was not always observed at oil-wet conditions. Capillary forces are present when the matrix is saturated by more than one phase, and a threshold pressure must be overcome for water to enter the matrix at oil-wet conditions. This threshold pressure was in some cases not overcome during gel injection, and the gel propagated through the fracture without dehydrating. This may affect the pressure resistance of the gel, because the gel does not concentrate and form wormholes during extrusion. However, lack of leakoff may also increase the distance a gel is able to propagate to within the reservoir, and increase the in-depth performance of the gel treatment.

Miscible CO<sub>2</sub> floods were investigated in fractured systems of varying oil composition and wettability. A high and fast recovery of oil was achieved when pure mineral oil constituted the oil phase, both in whole and fractured core plugs. When complex crude oil was used, decelerated recovery factors and prolonged tail production was observed during CO<sub>2</sub> floods. Tertiary recovery processes could be less

efficient than expected due to water shielding. Water shielding was partly governed by wettability, because wettability controls the post-waterflood saturation and distribution of fluids.

- Miscible and immiscible CO<sub>2</sub>-foam floods were performed to improve conformance and enhance oil recovery during gas floods. Foam provided an additional viscous pressure gradient that contributed to a more efficient oil recovery from fractured core plugs. Miscible foam injection was the most efficient of all investigated methods in enhancing oil recovery. The injection pressures during miscible foam injection were low without jeopardizing foam quality, which is advantageous for in-depth foam applications on field scale.
- Proposed recovery mechanisms during immiscible foam flooding were investigated at water-wet and oil-wet conditions. In-situ imaging at strongly water-wet and weakly oil-wet conditions provided important information about immiscible foam flooding. At water-wet conditions, gas entered the matrix and contributed to displacement of fluids. At oil-wet conditions, gas did not enter the matrix, and oil was displaced by the aqueous surfactant solution, which entered the matrix due to an additional viscous pressure gradient provided by the foam.
- An integrated EOR method was investigated, where placement of polymer gel for conformance control in fractures was the first step. Polymer gel successfully reduced fracture permeability in oil-wet cores and chase floods were performed at elevated pressure gradients. CO<sub>2</sub>-foam was most efficient during chase floods and a stable displacement front was visualized utilizing *in-situ* imaging by CT.

# **5. Future Perspectives**

### **Polymer gels**

Capillary spontaneous imbibition of water from gel into strongly water-wet systems was observed and measured in this thesis. Experiments are being planned to assess the effects of capillary forces on gel at less water-wet or oil-wet conditions, and using immature gel in addition to mature gel. Experiments will also be performed to investigate the influence of saturation functions on the gel placement process. Efforts are currently made to model the exchange of fluids between gel and core surface during spontaneous imbibition, based on the experiments presented in this thesis, and may be extended to include changes in wettability and gel maturity.

Gel applications for use on the NCS must meet certain requirements. First, chemicals (such as chromium) are strongly regulated, which calls for the use of environmentally friendly ("green") gels. Efforts should be made to seek cross-linking agents, in particular, that are compatible with established polymers and applicable according to the PLONOR regulations. Secondly, the polymer gel technology we investigated may be less resistant in reservoirs at high salinity and high temperature conditions. Experiments should be performed to evaluate the efficiency of the given polymer gel system in specific reservoirs.

Previous works have established effects which should be considered when discussing gel treatments in fractures: the establishment of wetting phase bridges (**Chapter 1.1**.) provide transportation of fluids and viscous pressure gradients across transverse fractures, and improve oil recovery at less water-wet conditions. The effect of gel placed in transverse fractures on liquid transport across the fracture (e.g. by wetting phase bridges) should be established.

The experimental setup used for *in-situ* measurement of unsteady state relative permeability (**Figure 18**) offer unique possibilities in conjunction with fractured rock EOR: measuring fluid phase pressures during gel extrusion and chase floods in fractured core plugs may provide useful information on the influence of two-phase functions on the different experimental steps, and for different wetting conditions.

### Foams

Experiments using foam for conformance control are presented in **Paper 4**, and are encouraging in terms of EOR, but some factors remain unresolved and should be further investigated. Most importantly, a clear understanding of foam stability in the presence of oil is needed. During immiscible foam injection into a fractured, strongly water-wet core, gas propagation through the matrix was visualized by CT, albeit at zero oil saturation. *In-situ* 

imaging verified that gas did not enter the porous matrix at oil-wet conditions in the presence of oil, when the oil saturation varied from  $S_o = 0.28$  to 0.76. Further investigations should be performed to disclose if gas entry to a porous matrix during foam injection is influenced by the oil phase as well as the wetting preference.

#### **Integrated EOR**

Integrated EOR efforts are increasingly important: implementation of EOR methods in a smart sequence, decreases the need for chemicals, and enhances oil recovery performance in both the near-well and far wellbore areas. In **Paper 5**, conformance control by polymer gel was an important first step in integrated EOR, to ensure an efficient recovery of oil, as well as improved microscopic and macroscopic sweep efficiencies, during chase floods. Further experiments should be performed, using polymer gel in conjunction with gas and foam chase floods at higher temperature and pressure conditions, to evaluate a polymer gel/miscible  $CO_2$ /miscible  $CO_2$ -foam sequence for use in mature reservoirs.

#### Foamed gels and polymer enhanced foams

Important mechanisms of polymer gel and foam floods, separately and combines, have been identified in this thesis. A logical next step is combining the two EOR methods: investigations of Polymer Enhanced Foam (PEF) or Foamed Gel (FG) applications are of interest. In PEF applications, a polymer is added to the surfactant foaming agent, while a gelant is added in FG applications. Adding a polymer (and sometimes cross-linker) to the surfactant solution improve the stability of the lamellae in foam applications. PEFs and FGs behave like foam during injection, thus low pressure gradients are potentially needed for extrusion through fractures, as shown in **Paper 4**. This concept needs to be tested experimentally.

FGs may crosslink in place, and behave similar to gel after crosslinking. Experiments must also be performed to assess the blocking ability of a Foamed Gel placed in fractures.

In general, up-scaling of existing experimental work to larger scales has potential. Polymer gel and foam experiments should, in particular, be performed on block scale, where the fracture volume constitutes a smaller part of the total pore volume than it does in experiments on core scale. Modelling and implementation in core flood and reservoir simulators are major goals.

# Nomenclature

EOR	:	enhanced oil recovery
MMP	:	minimum miscibility pressure
MRI	:	magnetic resonance imaging
СТ	:	computed tomography
NCS	:	Norwegian continental shelf
FV	:	fracture volume
PV	:	pore volume
$k_{frac}$	:	fracture permeability
b	:	fracture aperture
$\mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{g}}$	:	gas fraction
$S_{wi}$	:	irreducible water saturation
$S_{\mathrm{w}}$	:	water saturation
Sg	:	gas saturation
So	:	oil saturation
OOIP	:	original oil in place
$\mathbf{I}_{\mathbf{w}}$	:	Amott water index
I <sub>AH</sub>	:	Amott-Harvey index
$CO_2$	:	carbon dioxide
C <sub>2</sub>	:	ethane
C <sub>3</sub>	:	propane
$C_4$	:	butane
$N_2$	:	nitrogen
Cr	:	chromium
HPAM	:	partially hydrolyzed polyacrylamide
CC/AP	:	Chromium (III)-Carboxylate/Acrylamide-Polymer
US	:	the United States (of America)
Т	:	temperature
Р	:	pressure
ppm	:	parts per million
AFO	:	all faces open
TEO	:	two ends open
kr	:	relative permeability

# **Bibliography**

- Al-adasani, A., B. Bai and R. Nygaard (2012). A Selection Criterion for CO2-Enhanced Oil Recovery and Dispersion Modeling of High-Pressure CO2 Release. SPE Western Regional Meeting. Bakersfield, CA, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Al-Sharji, H. H., C. A. Grattoni, R. A. Dawe and R. W. Zimmerman (1999). Pore-Scale Study of the Flow of Oil and Water through Polymer Gels. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Houston, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Alhajeri, M. M., D. W. Green, J. Liang and R. E. Pancake (2006). "Gel-Polymer Extends Arbuckle High-Water-Cut Well Life." Oil & Gas Journal 104(2): 39-43.
- 4. Allen, J. and S. Q. Sun (2003). Controls on Recovery Factor in Fractured Reservoirs: Lessons Learned from 100 Fractured Fields. SPE ATCE, Denver, CO, USA.
- Anderson, W. G. (1987a). "Wettability Literature Survey- Part 4: Effects of Wettability on Capillary Pressure." SPE Journal of Petroleum Technology 39(10): 1283-1300.
- 6. Anderson, W. G. (1987b). "Wettability Literature Survey-Part 6: The Effects of Wettability on Waterflooding." Journal of Petroleum Technology.
- 7. Anderson, W. G. (1987c). "Wettability Literature Survey Part 5: The Effects of Wettability on Relative Permeability." Journal of Petroleum Technology November: 1453-1468.
- 8. Anderson, W. G. (1987d). "Wettability Literature Survey Part 5: The Effects of Wettability on Relative Permeability." <u>SPE Journal of Petroleum Technology</u> **39**(11): 1453-1468.
- Aspenes, E., G. Ersland, A. Graue, J. Stevens and B. A. Baldwin (2007). "Wetting Phase Bridges Establish Capillary Continuity Across Open Fractures and Increase Oil Recovery in Mixed-Wet Fractured Chalk." <u>Transport in Porous Media</u> Online First.
- Aspenes, E., A. Graue, B. A. Baldwin, A. Moradi, J. Stevens and D. P. Tobola (2002). Fluid Flow in Fractures Visualized by MRI During Waterfloods at Various Wettability Conditions - Emphasis on Fracture Width and Flow Rate. SPE ATCE, San Antonio, TX, USA.
- Austad, T. and J. Milter (1997). Spontaneous Imbibition of Water Into Low Permeable Chalk at Different Wettabilities Using Surfactants. SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry Houston, Texas, USA.
- Bai, B., F. Huang, Y. Liu, R. S. Seright and Y. Wang (2008). Case Study on Prefromed Particle Gel for In-Depth Fluid Diversion. SPE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Bank, G. C., D. E. Riestenberg and G. J. Koperna (2007). CO2-Enhanced Oil Recovery Potential of the Appalachian Basin. Eastern Regional Meeting. Lexington, KY, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Bertin, H. J., O. G. Apaydin, L. M. Castanier and A. R. Kovscek (1999a). "Foam Flow in Heterogeneous Porous Media: Effect of Cross Flow." <u>SPE Journal</u>(06).
- Bertin, H. J., O. G. Apaydin, L. M. Castanier and A. R. Kovscek (1999b). "Foam Flow in Heterogeneous Porous Media: Effect of Crossflow." <u>SPEJ</u> 4(2): 75-82.
- 16. Boerrigter, P. M., M. Verlaan and D. Yang (2007). *EOR Methods To Enhance Gas Oil Gravity Drainage*. SPE/EAGE Reservoir Characterization and Simulation Conference. Abu Dhabi, UAE.
- Borling, D. C. (1994). Injection Conformance Control Case Histories Using Gels at the Wertz Field CO2 Tertiary Flood in Wyoming. SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, Oklahoma, 1994 Copyright 1994, Society of Petroleum Engineers, Inc.
- Bourbiaux, B. J. (2009). Understanding the Oil Recovery Challenge of Water Drive Fractured Reservoirs. International Petroleum Technology Conference. Doha, Qatar, 2009, International Petroleum Technology Conference.
- Brautaset, A., G. Ersland and A. Graue (2010). "In Situ Phase Pressures and Fluid Saturation Dynamics Measured in Waterfloods at Various Wettability Conditions." <u>Spe Reservoir</u> <u>Evaluation & Engineering</u> 13(03): 465-472.

- Bryant, S. L., M. R. Rabaioli and T. P. Lockhart (1996). "Influence of Syneresis on Permeability Reduction by Polymer Gels." <u>SPE Production and Facilities</u> 11(04): 209-215.
- 21. Buckley, J. S., Y. Liu and S. Monsterleet (1998). "*Mechanisms of Wetting Alteration by Crude Oils* " <u>SPEJ</u> **3**(1): 54-61.
- Campbell, B. T. and F. M. Orr, Jr. (1985). "Flow Visualization for CO2/Crude-Oil Displacements." Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal 25(05): 665-678.
- 23. Cardwell, W. T. and R. L. Parsons (1949). "Gravity Drainage Theory." Trans Aime.
- Chardaire-Riviere, C., Chavent, G., Jaffre, J., Jun, L., Bourblaux, B. J. (1992). "Simultaneous Estimation of Relative Permeabilities and Capillary Pressure." <u>SPE Formation Evaluation</u> December: 283-289.
- Chen, F., C. S. McCool, D. W. Green and G. P. Willhite (2010). "Experimental and Modeling Study of the Transport of Chromium Acetate Through Carbonate Rocks." <u>SPE Journal</u> 15(02): 349-367.
- Churcher, P. L., P. R. French, J. C. Shaw and L. L. Schramm (1991). Rock Properties of Berea Sandstone, Baker Dolomite, and Indiana Limestone. SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. Anaheim, CA, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Cordova, M., M. Cheng, J. Trejo, S. J. Johnson, G. P. Willhite, J.-T. Liang and C. Berkland (2008). "Delayed HPAM Gelation via Transient Sequestration of Chromium in Polyelectrolyte Complex Nanoparticles." <u>Macromolecules</u> 41(12): 4398-4404.
- Craig, F. F. (1971). The Reservoir Engineering Aspects of Waterflooding. Richardson, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- da Silva, F. V. and P. Belery (1989). Molecular Diffusion in Naturally Fractured Reservoirs: A Decisive Recovery Mechanism. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. San Antonio, TX, USA, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- David, A. and S. S. Marsden, Jr. (1969). *The Rheology of Foam*. Fall Meeting of the Society of Petroleum Engineers of AIME. Denver, CO, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Dawe, R. A. and Y. Zhang (1994). "Mechanistic Study of the Selective Action of Oil and Water Penetrating into a Gel AMplced in a Porous Medium." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering 12(2): 113-125.
- Dindoruk, B. and A. Firoozabadi (1996). Crossflow in Fractured/Layered Media Incorporating Gravity, Viscous, and Phase Behavior Effects: Part II - Features in Fractured Media. SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Ekdale, A. A. and R. G. Bromley (1993). "Trace Fossils and Ichnofabric in the Kjølby Gaard Marl, Uppermost Creataceous, Denmark." <u>Bull Geol. Soc. Denmark</u> **31**: 107-119.
- Eleri, O. O., A. Graue and A. Skauge (1995). Steady-State and Unsteady-State Two-Phase Relative Permeability Hysteresis and Measurements of Three-Phase Relative Permeabilities Using Imaging Techniques. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Dallas, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Enick, R. M. and D. K. Olsen (2012). Mobility and Conformance control fro Carbon Dioxide Enhanced oil recovery (CO2-EOR via Thickeners, Foams, and Gels - A detailed Literature Review of 40 years of Research. J. Ammer, National Energy Technology Laboratory (NETL) Dept. of Energy (DOE).
- Falls, A. H., G. J. Hirasaki, T. W. Patzek, D. A. Gauglitz, D. D. Miller and T. Ratulowski (1988). "Development of a Mechanistic Foam Simulator: The Population Balance and Generation by Snap-Off." <u>Spe Reservoir Engineering</u> 3(03): 884-892.
- Fernø, M. A., A. Haugen and A. Graue (2012). Surfactant Prefloods for Integrated EOR in Fractured, Oil-Wet Carbonate Reservoirs. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. San Antonio, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Fernø, M. A., Å. Haugen, J. J. Howard and A. Graue (2008). The significance of wettability and fracture properties on oil recovery efficiency in fractured carbonates. International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, Abu Dhabi.

- Fernø, M. A., M. Torsvik, S. Haugland and A. Graue (2010). "Dynamic Laboratory Wettability Alteration." <u>Energy & Fuels</u> 24(7): 3950-3958.
- 40. Firoozabadi, A. (1994). *Miscible Displacement in Fractured Porous Media: Part I--Experiments*. SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Firoozabadi, A. (2000). "Recovery Mechanisms in Fractured Reservoirs and Field Performance." J. Can. Pet. Tech. 39(11): 13-17.
- Flores, J. G., J. J. Elphick, F. Lopez and P. Espinel (2008). The Integrated Approach to Formation Water Management: From Reservoir Management to the Protection of the Environment. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Denver, CO, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Ganguly, S., G. P. Willhite, D. W. Green and C. S. McCool (2002). "The Effect of Fluid Leakoff on Gel Placement and Gel Stability in Fractures." <u>SPE Journal</u> 7(03): 309-315.
- Geiger-Boschung, S., S. K. Matthäi, J. Niessner and R. Helmig (2009). "Black-Oil Simulations for Three-Component, Three-Phase Flow in Fractured Porous Media." <u>SPE Journal</u> 14(2): pp. 338-354.
- 45. Ghomian, Y., G. A. Pope and K. Sepehrnoori (2008). *Development of a Response Surface Based Model for Minimum Miscibility Pressure (MMP) Correlation of CO2 Flooding*. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Denver, CO, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Goodfield, M., S. Goodyear and P. H. Townsley (2001). New Coreflood Interpretation Method Based on Direct Processing of In-Situ Saturation Data. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition, New Orleans, Louisiana, USA.
- Graue, A., E. Aspenes, R. W. Moe, B. A. Baldwin, A. Moradi, J. Stevens and D. Tobola (2001a). MRI Tomography of Saturation Development in Fractures During Waterfloods at Various Wettability Conditions. SPE ATCE, New Orleans, LA, USA.
- Graue, A., B. A. Baldwin, E. Aspenes, J. Stevens, D. P. Tobola and D. R. Zornes (2000a). *Complementary imaging techniques applying NTI and MRI determined wettability effects on oil recovery mechanisms in fractured reservoirs* International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, Pau, France.
- Graue, A., T. Bognø, B. A. Baldwin and E. A. Spinler (2001b). "Wettability Effects on Oil Recovery Mechanisms in Fractured Reservoirs." <u>SPE Reservoir Eval. & Eng.</u> 4(6): 455-466.
- Graue, A., R. W. Moe and B. A. Baldwin (2000b). Comparison of Numerical Simulations and Laboratory Waterfloods with In-Situ Saturation Imaging of Fractured Blocks of Reservoir Rocks at Different Wettabilities. SPE International Petroleum Conference and Exhibition in Mexico, Villahermosa, Mexico.
- Graue, A., K. Nesse, B. A. Baldwin, E. A. Spinler and D. Tobola (2002). Impact of Fracture Permeability on Oil Recovery in Moderately Water-Wet Fractured Chalk Reservoirs. SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium, Tulsa, OK, USA.
- Hagedorn, K. D. and F. M. Orr, Jr. (1994). "Component Partitioning in CO2/Crude Oil Systems: Effects of Oil Composition on CO2 Displacement Performance." <u>SPE Advanced Technology</u> <u>Series</u> 2(02): 177-184.
- 53. Hagoort, J. (1980). "Oil Recovery by Gravity Drainage." **20**(3): 139-150.
- 54. Halland, E. K., J. Mujezinovi`c and F. Riis, Eds. (2014). CO2 STORAGE ATLAS- Norwegian continental shelf. Stavanger, Norwegian Petroleum Directorate, .
- Haugen, A., M. A. Ferno, A. Graue and H. J. Bertin (2010a). *Experimental Study of Foam Flow in* Fractured Oil-Wet Limestone for Enhanced Oil Recovery. SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Haugen, K. B. and A. Firoozabadi (2006). Measuring Molecular and Thermal Diffusion Coefficients in Multicomponent Mixtures by the Beam Deflection Technique. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. San Antonio, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Haugen, Å., M. A. Fernø, Ø. Bull and A. Graue (2010b). "Wettability Impacts on Oil Displacement in Large Fractured Carbonate Blocks." <u>Energy & Fuels</u> 24(5): 3020-3027.

- Haugen, Å., M. A. Fernø, A. Graue and H. J. Bertin (2012). "Experimental Study of Foam Flow in Fractured Oil-Wet Limestone for Enhanced Oil Recovery." <u>Spe Reservoir Evaluation &</u> Engineering 15(02): 218-228.
- 59. Haugen, Å., M. A. Fernø, G. Mason and N. R. Morrow (2014). "*Capillary pressure and relative permeability estimated from a single spontaneous imbibition test*." <u>Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering</u> **Online first**.
- Hemmati-Sarapardeh, A., S. Ayatollahi, M. H. Ghazanfari and M. Masihi (2014). "Experimental Determination of Interfacial Tension and Miscibility of the CO2-Crude Oil System; Temperature, Pressure, and Composition Effects." Journal of Chemical and Engineering Data 59(1): 61-69.
- Hermansen, H., G. H. Landa, J. E. Sylte and L. K. Thomas (2000). "Experiences after 10 years of waterflooding the Ekofisk Field, Norway." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering 26: 11-18.
- Hermansen, H., L. K. Thomas, J. E. Sylte and B. T. Aasboe (1997). Twenty Five Years of Ekofisk Reservoir Management. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. San Antonio, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Hild, G. P. and R. K. Wackowski (1999a). "Reservoir Polymer Gel Treatments To Improve Miscible CO2 Flood." <u>Spe Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering</u> 2(02): 196-204.
- 64. Hild, G. P. and R. K. Wackowski (1999b). "*Reservoir Polymer Gel Treatments To Improve Miscible CO2 Flood*." <u>Spe Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering</u> **2**(2): 196-204.
- 65. Hirasaki, G. J. and J. B. Lawson (1985). "*Mechanisms of Foam Flow in Porous Media: Apparent Viscosity in Smooth Capillaries*." <u>Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal</u> **25**(2): 176-190.
- Hjuler, M. L. (2007). Diagenesis of Upper Cretaceous onshore and offshore chalk from the North Sea area. Institute of Environment & Resources. Copenhagen, Denmark, Technical University of Denmark. (PhD thesis).
- 67. Holm, L. W. (1986). "*Miscibility and Miscible Displacement*." Journal of Petroleum Technology **38**: 817-818.
- Holm, L. W. and V. A. Josendal (1974). "Mechanisms of Oil Displacement By Carbon Dioxide." Journal of Petroleum Technology 26(12): 1472-1438.
- Holm, L. W. and V. A. Josendal (1982). "Effect of Oil Composition on Miscible-Type Displacement by Carbon Dioxide." <u>Society of Petroleum Engineers Journal</u> 22(01): 87-98.
- 70. Horie, T. and A. Firoozabadi (1988). *Capillary Continuity in Fractured Reservoirs*. APE Annual Technical Meeting, Houston, TX, USA.
- Horie, T., A. Firoozabadi and K. Ishimoto (1990). "Laboratory Studies of Capillary Interaction in Fracture/Matrix Systems." Spe Reservoir Engineering 5(3): 353-360.
- Hu, H., C. H. Whitson and Y. Qi (1991). A Study of Recovery Mechanisms in a Nitrogen Diffusion Experiment. 6th European Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 73. Jamili, A., G. P. Willhite and D. Green (2011). "Modeling Gas-Phase Mass Transfer Between Fracture and Matrix in Naturally Fractured Reservoirs." SPE Journal **16**(04): 795-811.
- Jennings Jr., J. W., D. S. McGregor and R. A. Morse (1988). "Simultaneous Determination of Capillary Pressure and Relative Permeability by Automatic History Matching." <u>SPE Formation</u> <u>Evaluation</u> June: 322-328.
- Jin, H., C. S. McCool, G. P. Willhite, D. W. Green and M. J. Michnick (2003). "Propagation of Chromium(III) Acetate Solutions Through Dolomite Rock." <u>SPE Journal</u> 8(02): 107-113.
- Johannesen, E. B. (2008). NMR characterization of wettability and how it impacts oil recovery in chalk. Dept. of Physics and Technology. Bergen, University of Bergen. PhD thesis: 71.
- Johnson, E. F., D. P. Bossler and V. O. Naumann (1959). "Calculation of Relative Permeability from Displacement Experiments." <u>Petroleum Transactions</u> 216: 370-372.
- Jones, S. C. and W. O. Roszelle (1978). "Graphical Techniques for Determining Relative Permeability From Displacement Experiments." Journal of Petroleum Technology 30(5): 807-817.

- Karimaie, H. and O. Torseter (2007). "Effect of injection rate, initial water saturation and gravity on water injection in slightly water-wet fractured porous media." <u>Journal of Petroleum</u> <u>Science and Engineering</u> 58: 293-308.
- Klein, E. and T. Reuschle (2003). "A Model for the Mechanical Behaviour of Bentheim Sandstone." <u>Pure applied Geophysics</u> 160: 833-849.
- Kolltveit, K., J. E. Nordtvedt, F. Hovland, B. A. Kvanvik and B. Lie (1990). "Using Explicit and Implicit Methods to Calculate Relative Permeabilities from In Situ Measurements." <u>Advances</u> <u>In Core Evaluation</u> I: 479-494.
- Kovscek, A. R., D. C. Tretheway, P. Persoff and C. J. Radke (1995). "Foam flow through a transparent rough-walled fracture." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering 17: 75-86.
- Krishnan, P., K. Asghari, G. P. Willhite, C. S. McCool, D. W. Green and S. Vossoughi (2000). Dehydration and Permeability of Gels Used in In-Situ Permeability Modification Treatments. SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Kuuskraa, V. and M. Wallace (2014). "CO<sub>2</sub>-EOR set fro growth as new CO<sub>2</sub> supplies emerge." <u>Oil & Gas Journal</u> 112(4).
- 85. Labastie, A. (1990). *Capillary Continuity Between Blocks of a Fractured Reservoir*. SPE ATCE, New Orleans, LA, USA.
- Lackner, A. S. and O. Torsaeter (2005). Phase Pressure Measurements: Simultaneous and Direct Derivation of Relative Permeability and Dynamic Capillary Pressure. International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, Toronto, Canada.
- Lambert, M. R., S. D. Marino, T. L. Anthony, M. W. Calvin, S. Gutierrez and D. P. Smith (1996). *Implementing CO2 Floods: No More Delays!* Permian Basin Oil and Gas Recovery Conference. Midland, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Lemmon, E. W., M. O. McLinden and D. G. Friend (2014). *Thermophysical Properties of Fluid systems*. NIST Chemistry WebBook, NIST standard Reference Database Number 69, P. J. L. a. E. G. Mallard. National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg MD.
- Li, B., G. J. Hirasaki and C. A. Miller (2006). Upscaling of Foam Mobility Control to Three Dimensions. SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Liang, J.-T., R. L. Lee and R. S. Seright (1993). "Gel Placement in Production Wells." <u>SPE Production</u> <u>and Facilities</u> 8(November): 276-284.
- 91. Liu, J. and R. S. Seright (2000). *Rheology of Gels Used For Conformance Control in Fractures*. SPE/DOE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Ma, S., N. R. Morrow and X. Zhang (1997). "Generalized scaling of spontaneous imbibition data for strongly water-wet systems." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering 18(3-4): 165-178.
- Manrique, E. J., C. P. Thomas, R. Ravikiran, M. Izadi Kamouei, M. Lantz, J. L. Romero and V. Alvarado (2010). *EOR: Current Status and Opportunities*. SPE Improved Oil Recovery Symposium Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 94. Martin, D. F. and J. J. Taber (1992). "Carbon Dioxide Flooding." Journal of Petroleum Technology 44(04): 396-400.
- 95. Martin, F. D. and F. S. Kovarik (1987). *Chemical Gels for Diverting CO2: Baseline Experiments*. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Dallas, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Mason, G. and N. R. Morrow (2013). "Developments in spontaneous imbibition and possibilities for future work." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering 110: 268-293.
- Mattax, C. C. and J. R. Kyte (1962). "Imbibition Oil Recovery from Fractured, Water-Drive Reservoir." SPE J. 2(2): 177-184.
- Mejia, G. M., K. K. Mohanty and A. T. Watson (1995). "Use of In Situ Saturation Data in Estimation of Two-Phase Flow Functions in Porous Media." <u>Journal of Petroleum Science and</u> <u>Engineering</u> 12: 233-245.
- Miller, M. (2010). Naturally Fractured Reservoir Engineering. <u>Reservoir Engineering course</u> <u>handouts</u>. Vienna, Austria, HOT Engineering. **Course handouts:** 1-67.

- 100. Morrow, N. R. (1990). "Wettability and its Effect on Oil Recovery." Journal of Petroleum Technology: 1476-1484.
- 101. Morrow, N. R. and G. Mason (2001). "*Recovery of oil by spontaneous imbibition*." <u>Current</u> <u>Opinion in Colloid & Interface Science</u> **6**(4): 321-337.
- 102. Nelson, R. (2001). *Geologic Analysis of Naturally Fractured Reservoirs*. Boston, Gulf Professional Publ.
- 103. Nguyen, Q. P., A. V. Alexandrov, P. L. Zitha and P. K. Currie (2000). Experimental and Modeling Studies on Foam in Porous Media: A Review. SPE International Symposium on Formation Damage Control. Lafayette, Louisiana, Copyright 2000, Society of Petroleum Engineers, Inc.
- 104. Nguyen, T. Q., D. W. Green, G. P. Willhite and C. S. McCool (2004). Effect of Composition of a Polyacrylamide-Chromium(III) Acetate Gel on the Magnitude of Gel Dehydration and Disproportionate Permeability Reduction. SPE/DOE Symposium on Improved Oil Recovery. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 105. Norwegian Ministry of Petroleum and Energy (2011) "Fullskala CO2 håndtering", Oslo, 47
- 106. Orr, F. M. and K. K. Pande (1989). "Effect of Multicomponent, Multiphase Equilibria in Gas Injection Processes." <u>Fluid Phase Equilibria</u> **52**: 247-261.
- 107. Panahi, H. (2004). Improving the Recovery Factor of Heavy Crude Reservoirs by Co-injecting CO2 and Other Conventional Gaseous Injecting Materials at Immiscibility Condition with Foam. SPE International Petroleum Conference in Mexico. Puebla Pue., Mexico, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Pancharoen, M., M. A. Fernø and A. R. Kovscek (2012). "Modeling foam displacement in fractures." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering 100(2012): 50-58.
- Pande, K. K. (1992). Effects of Gravity and Viscous Crossflow on Hydrocarbon Miscible Flood Performance in Heterogeneous Reservoirs. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Washington, D.C., Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 110. Portwood, J. T. (1999). *Lessons Learned from Over 300 Producing Well Water Shut-Off Gel Treatments*. SPE Mid-Continent Operations Symposium, Oklahoma City, OK, USA.
- 111. Portwood, J. T. (2005). *The Kansas Arbuckle Formation: Performance Evaluation and Lessons Learned From More Than 200 Polymer-Gel Water-Shutoff Treatments.* SPE Productions and Operations Symposium. Oklahoma city, OK, USA.
- 112. Rangel-German, E. R., S. Akin and L. Castanier (2006). "*Multiphase-flow properties of fractured porous media*." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering **51**(3-4): 197-213.
- 113. Rapoport, L. A. and W. J. Leas (1953). "*PROPERTIES OF LINEAR WATERFLOODS*." <u>Petroleum</u> <u>Transactions AIME</u> 198: 139-148.
- Romero-Zeron, L. B., F. M. Hum and A. Kantzas (2008). "Characterization of Crosslinked Gel Kinetics and Gel Strength by Use of NMR." <u>SPE Reservoir Evaluation and Engineering</u> 11(03): 439-453.
- 115. Rossen, W. R. (1995). *Foams in Enhanced Oil Recovery*. <u>FOAMS Theory, Measurements, and Applications</u>. R. K. Prud'homm and S. A. Khan. New York, Marcel Dekekr.
- 116. Rousseau, D., G. Chauveteau and M. Renard (2005). *Rheology and Transport in Porous media of New Water Shutoff/Conformance Control Microgels*. SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. The Woodlands, TX.
- 117. Saidi, A. M. (1987). *Reservoir Engineering of Fractured Reservoirs: Fundamental and Practical Aspects*. Paris, Total Edition Presse.
- 118. Saidi, A. M., D. H. Tehrani and K. Wit (1979). *PD 10(3) Mathematical Simulation of Fractured Reservoir Performance, Based on Physical Model Experiments*. 10th World Petroleum Congress. Bucharest, Romania, World Petroleum Congres.
- 119. Salathiel, R. A. (1973). "*Oil Recovery by Surface Film Drainage in Mixed-Wettability Rocks*." J. <u>Pet. Tech.</u> **255**(10): 1216-1224.
- 120. Schembre, J. M. and A. R. Kovscek (2002). "A technique for measuring two-phase relative permeability in porous media via X-ray CT measurements." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering **39**: 359-174.

- 121. Schutjens, P. M. T. M., M. Hausenblas, M. Dijkshorn and J. G. van Munster (1995). THE INFLUENCE OF INTERGRANULAR MICROCRACKS ON THE PETROPHYSICAL PROPERTIES OF SANDSTONE- EXPERIMENTS TO QANTIFY EFFECTS OF CORE DAMAGE. International Symposium of the Society of Core Analysts, San Francisco, CA.
- 122. Seright, R. S. (1992). *Impact of Permeability and Lithology on Gel Performance*. SPE/DOE Enhanced Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 123. Seright, R. S. (1995). "Gel Placement in Fractured Systems " <u>SPE Production & Facilities</u> **10**(4): 241-248.
- 124. Seright, R. S. (1997). "Use of Preformed Gels for Conformance Control in Fractured Systems." <u>SPE Production & Operations</u> **12**(1): 59-65.
- 125. Seright, R. S. (1999). "Polymer Gel Dehydration During Extrusion Through Fractures." <u>SPE</u> <u>Production & Facilities</u> **14**(2): 110-116.
- 126. Seright, R. S. (2001a). "Gel Propagation Through Fractures." <u>SPE Production & Operations</u> 16(4): 225-231.
- 127. Seright, R. S. (2001b). "*Gel Propagation Through Fractures* " <u>SPE Production & Facilities</u> **16**(4): 225-231.
- 128. Seright, R. S. (2003a). "An Alternative View of Filter-Cake Formation in Fractures Inspired by Cr(III)-Acetate-HPAM Gel Extrusion " <u>SPE Production & Facilities</u> **18**(1): 65-72.
- 129. Seright, R. S. (2003b). Washout of Cr(III)-Acetate-HPAM Gels from Fractures. International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry. Houston, TX, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 130. Seright, R. S. (2004). CONFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT USING GELS. DOE (Department of Energy), NM PRRC.
- 131. Seright, R. S. (2009). "Disproportionate Permeability Reduction With Pore-Filling Gels." <u>SPE</u> Journal **14**(1): 5-13.
- Seright, R. S., R. H. Lane and R. D. Sydansk (2001). A Strategy for Attacking Excess Water Production. SPE Permian Basin Oil and Gas Recovery Conference. Midland, Texas, Copyright 2001, Society of Petroleum Engineers Inc.
- 133. Seright, R. S., R. H. Lane and R. D. Sydansk (2003). "A Strategy for Attacking Excess Water Production." <u>SPE Production and Facilities</u> **18**(03): 158-169.
- 134. Seright, R. S. and J. Liang (1994). A Survey of Field Applications of Gel Treatments for Water Shutoff. SPE Latin America/Caribbean Petroleum Engineering Conference. Buenos Aires, Argentina, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Seright, R. S., J. T. Liang, R. Schrader, J. Hagstrom, J. Liu and K. Wavrik (1998). Improved Methods for Water Shutoff. <u>Final Technical Progress Report (US DOE Report No.</u> <u>DOE/PC/91008-14</u>), US DOE Contract No. DE-AC22-94PC91008, BDM-Oklahoma Subcontract <u>No. G4S660330</u>: 21-54.
- 136. Seright, R. S. and F. D. Martin (1991). *Fluid Diversion and Sweep Improvement with Chemical Gels in Ol Recovery Processes*. Nov. 1991.
- 137. Seright, R. S. and F. D. Martin (1992). "*Effect of Cr-3+ on the Rheology of Xanthan Formulations in Porous-Media before and after Gelation*." In Situ **16**(1): 1-16.
- 138. Seright, R. S. and F. D. Martin (1993). "Impact of Gelation Ph, Rock Permeability, and Lithology on the Performance of a Monomer-Based Gel." <u>Spe Reservoir Engineering</u> 8(1): 43-50.
- 139. Silva, M. K. and F. M. Orr, Jr. (1987). "Effect of Oil Composition on Minimum Miscibility Pressure-Part 1: Solubility of Hydrocarbons in Dense CO2." <u>Spe Reservoir Engineering</u> **2**(04): 468-478.
- Spildo, K., A. Skauge, M. G. Aarra and M. T. Tweheyo (2009). "A New Polymer Application for North Sea Reservoirs." Spe Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering 12(03): 427-432.
- 141. Stalkup, F. I. J. (1984). Miscible Displacement. New York, SPE of AIME.
- 142. Standnes, D. C., L. A. D. Nogaret, C. H.L. and A. T (2002). "An Evaluation of Spontaneous Imbibition of Water into Oil-Wet Carbonate Reservoir Cores Using a Nonionic and a Cationic Surfactant." <u>Energy and Fuels</u> 16: 1557-1564.
- 143. Stavland, A., H. C. Jonsbraten, O. Vikane, K. Skrettingland and H. Fischer (2011). In-Depth Water Diversion Using Sodium Silicate on Snorre - Factors Controlling In-Depth Placement. SPE

European Formation Damage Conference. Noordwijk, Netherlands, Society of Petroleum Engineers.

- 144. Stavland, A. and S. Nilsson (1995). "*Delayed gelation in corefloods using Cr(III)-malonate as a crosslinker*." Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering **13**(1995): 247-258.
- 145. Stones, E. J., S. A. Zimmerman, C. V. Chien and S. S. Marsden (1992). *The Effect of Capillary Connectivity Across Horizontal Fractures on Gravity Drainage From Fractured Porous Media*. SPE ATCE, Washington, D.C., USA.
- 146. Sydansk, R. D. (1988). A New Conformance-Improvement-Treatment Chromium(III) Gel Technology. SPE Enhanced Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 147. Sydansk, R. D. (1990). "A Newly Developed Chromium(III) Gel Technology." <u>Spe Reservoir</u> Engineering **5**(03): 346-352.
- 148. Sydansk, R. D. and P. A. Argabright (1987). *Conformance improvement in a subterranean hydrocarbon-bearing formation using a polymer gel*. USA, Google Patents. **4,683,949:** 20.
- 149. Sydansk, R. D. and P. E. Moore (1992). "*Gel Conformance Treatments Increase Oil Production in Wyoming*." <u>Oil & Gas J.</u> **40**.
- 150. Sydansk, R. D. and L. Romero-Zerôn (2011). *Reservoir Confromance Improvement*, Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE).
- Sydansk, R. D. and T. B. Smith (1988). Field Testing of a New Conformance-Improvement-Treatment Chromium(III) Gel Technology. SPE Enhanced Oil Recovery Symposium. Tulsa, OK, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Sydansk, R. D. and G. P. Southwell (2000). "More Than 12 Years Experience With a Successful Conformance-Control Polymer-Gel Technology." <u>SPE Production & Operations</u> 15(4): 270-278.
- Sydansk, R. D., Y. Xiong, A. M. Al-Dhafeeri, R. J. Schrader and R. S. Seright (2005). "Characterization of Partially Formed Polymer Gels for Application to Fractured Production Wells for Water-Shutoff Purposes." <u>SPE Production & Facilities</u> 20(03): 240-249.
- 154. Tan, C. T. and A. Firoozabadi (1995). "Theoretical Analysis Of Miscible Displacement In Fractured Porous Media By A One-Dimensional Model: Part I -- Theory." Journal of Canadian Petroleum <u>Technology</u> 34(02).
- 155. Tie, H. (2006). OIL RECOVERY BY SPONTANEOUS IMBIBITION AND VISCOUS DISPLACEMENT FROM MIXED-WET CARBONATES. Department of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering. Laramie, Wyoming, The University of Wyoming. PhD thesis: 238.
- 156. Tweidt, L. I., W. D. Chase, C. R. Holowatuk, R. H. Lane and C. M. Mitchell (1997). Improving Sweep Efficiency in the Norman Wells Naturally Fractured Reservoir Through the Use of Polymer Gels: A Field Case History SPE ATCE. San Antonio, Tx, USA.
- 157. Van Golf-Racht, T. D. (1996). Naturally-Fractured Carbonate Reservoirs. <u>Carbonate Reservoir</u> <u>Characterization: A Geologic-Engineering Analysis, Part II</u>. G. V. Chilingarian and S. J. Mazzullo. New York City, Elsevier: 683.
- Vargas-Vasquez, S. M., L. B. Romero-Zerôn and B. MacMillan (2007). "<sup>1</sup>H NMR Characterization of HPAm/Cr(III) Acetate Polymer Gel Components." <u>International Journal of Polymer analysis</u> <u>and Characterization</u> 12(2): 115-129.
- 159. Viksund, B. G., N. R. Morrow, S. Ma and A. Graue (1998). INITIAL WATER SATURATION AND OIL RECOVERY FROM CHALK AND SANDSTONE BY SPONTANEOUS IMBIBITION. Inlt. Symposium of Soc. of Core Analysts, The Hague.
- 160. Vossoughi, S. (2000). "*Profile Modification Using In Situ Gelation Technology- A Review*." Journal <u>of Petroleum Science and Engineering</u> **26**(1-4): 199-209.
- 161. White, J. L., J. E. Goddard and H. M. Phillips (1973). "Use of Polymers to Control Water Production in Oil Wells." Journal of Petroleum Technology **25**(2): 143-150.
- Willhite, G. P. and R. E. Pancake (2008). "Controlling Water Production Using Gelled Polymer Systems." Spe Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering 11(3): 454-465.
- 163. Wilton, R. and K. Asghari (2007). "*Improving Gel Performance in Fractures: Chromium Pre-Flush and Overload*." Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology **46**(02).

- 164. Witherspoon, P. A., J. S. Y. Wang, K. Iwai and J. E. Gale (1980). "Validity of Cubic Law for Fluid Flow in a Deformable Rock Fracture." <u>Water Resour. Res.</u> 16(6): 1016-1024.
- Yan, W., C. A. Miller and G. J. Hirasaki (2006). "Foam sweep in fractures for enhanced oil recovery." <u>Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects</u> 282-283: 348-359.
- 166. Yuan, H., R. T. Johns, A. M. Egwuenu and B. Dindoruk (2005). "Improved MMP Correlation for CO2 Floods Using Analytical Theory." <u>Spe Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering</u> 8(05): 418-425.
- 167. Zhang, H. and B. Bai (2011). "Preformed-Particle-Gel Transport through Open Fractures and Its Effect on Water Flow." <u>SPE Journal</u> **16**(2): 388-400.
- Zhou, X., N. R. Morrow and S. Ma (2000). "Interrelationship of Wettability, Initial Water Saturation, Aging Time, and Oil Recovery by Spontaneous Imbibition and Waterflooding." <u>SPE</u> <u>J.</u> 5(2): 199-207.
- Zitha, P., R. Felder, D. Zornes, K. Brown and K. Mohanty (2011). *Increasing Hydrocarbon Recovery Factors*. <u>www.spe.org/tech</u>. SPE Technology Updates, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- Zou, B., C. S. McCool, D. W. Green, G. P. Willhite and M. J. Michnick (2000). "Precipitation of Chromium Acetate Solutions." <u>SPE Journal</u> 5(03): 324-330.
- 171. Zuta, J. and I. Fjelde (2010). "*Transport of CO2-Foaming Agents During CO2-Foam Processes in Fractured Chalk Rock*." <u>SPE Reservoir Evaluation and Engineering</u> **13**(04): 710-719.
- 172. Zuta, J., I. Fjelde and R. Berenblyum (2009). *Oil Recovery During CO2-Foam Injection in Fractured Chalk Rock at Reservoirs Conditions*. Intl. Symposium of SCA, Noordwijk, NL.